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         1                    P R O C E E D I N G S

         2           THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT, SIR.

         3           MR. MALONE:  THANK YOU, YOUR HONOR.

         4                 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

         5  BY MR. MALONE:

         6  Q.   GOOD AFTERNOON, MR. NORRIS.

         7  A.   GOOD AFTERNOON.

         8  Q.   BEFORE LUNCH, WE HAD BEEN TALKING ABOUT EFFORTS THAT

         9  YOU AND OTHERS AT IBM MADE TO ESTABLISH A BETTER

        10  RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT AND SOME OF THE THINGS THAT

        11  YOU HEARD BACK IN RETURN.

        12           I WOULD LIKE TO TURN NOW TO A SEPARATE ISSUE AND

        13  ASK YOU TO TELL US, WHAT WAS THE NEXT MAJOR NEGOTIATION IN

        14  WHICH YOU ENGAGED WITH MICROSOFT?

        15  A.   IN 1996?

        16  Q.   YES.

        17  A.   THAT WOULD BE THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT.

        18  Q.   AND DURING WHAT PERIOD OF TIME IN '96 WAS THAT

        19  AGREEMENT NEGOTIATED?

        20  A.   I'M SORRY, LET ME BACK UP.

        21           IT WAS THE 1996 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.  WE

        22  RECEIVED THAT FIRST.  WE RECEIVED THAT IN FEBRUARY OF

        23  1996.

        24  Q.   AND DID THAT COME BEFORE THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

        25  AGREEMENT?
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         1  A.   YES, IT DID.

         2  Q.   OKAY.  LET'S TAKE A MINUTE AND TALK ABOUT THE '96

         3  MDA, AND THEN WE WILL MOVE ON TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP

         4  FAMILY AGREEMENT.

         5           I'M SORRY.  YOU SAID YOU RECEIVED THE MDA FROM

         6  MICROSOFT INITIALLY IN FEBRUARY?

         7  A.   SOMETIME IN FEBRUARY OF 1996, YES.

         8  Q.   OKAY.  AND JUST TO BRING US UP TO DATE, WITH WHOM AT

         9  MICROSOFT WERE YOU THEN DEALING IN THE FEBRUARY OR SO 1996

        10  TIME FRAME?

        11  A.   MARK BABER, WOLFGANG STRUSS, JOACHIM KEMPIN.

        12  Q.   YOU MENTIONED EARLIER IN THE DAY A LISA CLAYTON.  WAS

        13  SHE INVOLVED?

        14  A.   LISA CLAYTON WAS STILL ON THE TEAM THEN, AS WELL.

        15  Q.   OKAY.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT GENERALLY

        16  WHAT, IF ANY, MAJOR DIFFERENCES THERE WERE IN THE

        17  NEGOTIATING PROCESS FOR THE 1996 MDA AS COMPARED TO THE

        18  1995 MDA YOU DESCRIBED NEGOTIATING EARLIER IN YOUR

        19  TESTIMONY.

        20  A.   SURE.  THE 1996 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WAS AN

        21  AGREEMENT THAT WAS HANDED TO US ON THE--IN THE MIDDLE OF

        22  FEBRUARY.  THAT MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT CONTAINED $20

        23  WORTH OF ACTIVITIES THAT IBM COULD HAVE PERFORMED IN ORDER

        24  TO GET THE REDUCTION IN ROYALTIES.

        25           COMPARED TO 1995, THE 1995 ORIGINAL MDA, AS

                                                           6

         1  PRESENTED TO IBM IN OCTOBER OF 1994, CONTAINED AN

         2  OPPORTUNITY FOR $27 WORTH OF DISCOUNTS TO WHICH IBM COULD

         3  WORK TO GET THE DISCOUNTS AGAINST THE ROYALTIES.

         4           THE 1996 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WAS

         5  NONNEGOTIABLE.  MICROSOFT SAID, "THIS IS THE OPPORTUNITY

         6  THAT YOU HAVE.  THERE WILL BE NO FURTHER OPPORTUNITIES TO

         7  NEGOTIATE.  WE WILL NOT ACCEPT PROPOSALS FROM IBM TO GET

         8  ADDITIONAL DISCOUNTS TOWARDS THE PRICE OF WINDOWS 95."

         9  VERSUS THE 1995, SINCE WE ONLY WERE ABLE TO QUALIFY FOR

        10  EIGHT, AND THEN INCLUDE--AND ASK FOR ADDITIONAL

        11  OPPORTUNITIES TO A TOTAL OF 15, THAT OPPORTUNITY WAS NOT

        12  AFFORDED US IN THE 1996 MDA.

        13  Q.   DURING THE 1996 MDA NEGOTIATIONS, DID YOU, IN FACT,

        14  EITHER ASK MICROSOFT OR PROPOSE TO MICROSOFT ADDITIONAL OR

        15  DIFFERENT MDA ACTIVITIES THAT MIGHT GO BEYOND THE $20

        16  MAXIMUM THEY HAD OFFERED YOU?

        17  A.   WE DID BOTH.  WE BOTH ASKED ORALLY, AND ALSO

        18  PRESENTED PROPOSALS TO MICROSOFT FROM TIME TO TIME DURING

        19  THE NEXT TWO MONTHS FOR ADDITIONAL DISCOUNTS ON THE MDA,

        20  AND THEY WERE--THEY WERE ALL DENIED.

        21  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID MICROSOFT REPRESENTATIVES

        22  TELL YOU ABOUT WHY THEY WERE NOT CONSIDERING ADDITIONAL OR

        23  DIFFERENT MDA ACTIVITIES IN 1996 WHERE THEY HAD DONE SO IN

        24  1995?

        25  A.   MICROSOFT SAID TO US THAT IN 1995, "WE WERE LOOKING
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         1  FOR IBM TO HELP US MAKE A MARKET FOR WINDOWS 95."

         2           IN 1996, THEY SAID, "WE DON'T NEED YOU TO HELP US

         3  MAKE A MARKET NOW.  THEREFORE, WHAT YOU SEE IS WHAT YOU

         4  GET.  THIS IS THE OPPORTUNITY THAT YOU HAVE."

         5  Q.   DO YOU RECALL FOR HOW MUCH OF THE MAXIMUM $20 MDA

         6  REDUCTIONS IBM WAS ABLE TO QUALIFY UNDER THE 1996 MDA?

         7  A.   AFTER WE HAD DONE ALL OF OUR ANALYSES AND COME TO A

         8  CONCLUSION TO SIGN THE AGREEMENT, I BELIEVE IT WAS ABOUT

         9  $15.

        10  Q.   FIFTEEN OUT OF THE TWENTY MAXIMUM?

        11  A.   FIFTEEN OUT OF THE TWENTY.

        12  Q.   AND DO YOU RECALL APPROXIMATELY WHEN IBM SIGNED THE

        13  1996 MDA WITH MICROSOFT?

        14  A.   I BELIEVE IT WAS IN THE MIDDLE OF APRIL.

        15  Q.   LET ME TURN NOW BACK TO THE OTHER AGREEMENT THAT YOU

        16  BEGAN TO MENTION A MINUTE AGO, THE 1996 WINDOWS DESKTOP

        17  FAMILY AGREEMENT; DID I GET THAT RIGHT?

        18  A.   YES, THAT'S CORRECT.

        19  Q.   AND BEFORE WE TALK ABOUT ANY OF THE DETAILS OF THAT

        20  AGREEMENT, CAN YOU JUST DESCRIBE AGAIN WHAT WAS YOUR ROLE

        21  PERSONALLY IN NEGOTIATION OF THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

        22  AGREEMENT.

        23  A.   DID NOT CHANGE.  I WAS STILL THE LEAD NEGOTIATOR FROM

        24  IBM FOR OUR WINDOWS AGREEMENTS AND OUR MARKET DEVELOPMENT

        25  AGREEMENTS WITH MICROSOFT.

                                                           8

         1  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT, GENERALLY AT

         2  FIRST, WHAT WAS REFERRED TO BY THE TERM "WINDOWS DESKTOP

         3  FAMILY AGREEMENT."

         4  A.   THIS WAS AN AGREEMENT THAT WAS PRESENTED TO IBM THAT

         5  CONTAINED A SINGLE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THE FOLLOWING

         6  MICROSOFT PRODUCTS:  WINDOWS 3.11, MS-DOS, THE MS-DOS

         7  TOOLS, WINDOWS 95, AND WINDOWS FOR WORK GROUPS, AND

         8  WINDOWS NT 4.0.

         9  Q.   AND WHO PROPOSED THE IDEA OF A SINGLE LICENSE THAT

        10  WOULD COVER A VARIETY OR SEVERAL MICROSOFT PRODUCTS?

        11  A.   MICROSOFT PROPOSED THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

        12  AGREEMENT.

        13  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE, AGAIN GENERALLY, HOW THE--AS

        14  PROPOSED BY MICROSOFT, HOW THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

        15  AGREEMENT WOULD WORK.  WHAT WERE THE PRIMARY TERMS?

        16  A.   SURE.  THE DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT PROVIDED FOR THE

        17  FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS:

        18           FIRST, IBM WOULD HAVE TO GIVE UP ITS FAVORABLE

        19  PRICE FOR WINDOWS 3.11, AND THE PRICE WOULD GO FROM $9 TO

        20  $62.  WE WERE ALREADY--WE HAD ALREADY CONTRACTED WITH

        21  MICROSOFT FOR AN AGREEMENT THAT RAN THROUGH SEPTEMBER OF

        22  1997 FOR WINDOWS 3.11.  THEY WANTED IBM TO RELINQUISH THE

        23  TERMS OF THAT AGREEMENT AND GIVE IT UP.

        24           SECOND, THE FAMILY AGREEMENT REQUIRED IBM TO SIGN

        25  A LICENSE FOR WINDOWS FAMILY--FOR THE WINDOWS DESKTOP
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         1  FAMILY IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A LICENSE FOR WINDOWS NT 4.0.

         2  UNLESS YOU SIGN THE FAMILY, YOU COULD NOT HAVE A LICENSE

         3  FOR NT 4.0.

         4           THIRD, IF IBM DID NOT SIGN THE WINDOWS DESKTOP

         5  FAMILY, MICROSOFT DID AGREE TO ALLOW US TO NEGOTIATE A

         6  SEPARATE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT.  HOWEVER, IF WE DID

         7  WITHOUT SIGNING A DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENT, WE

         8  WOULD LOSE THE MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, THEREBY

         9  LOSING $75 MILLION IN COST SAVINGS.

        10  Q.   LET ME TAKE A MOMENT TO GO THROUGH EACH ONE OF THOSE

        11  ONE AT A TIME.

        12           THE FIRST ONE YOU SAID, THAT IBM WOULD HAVE TO

        13  GIVE UP ITS EXISTING PRICE OF $9 AND GO TO A PRICE, AS

        14  INITIALLY PROCEEDED, OF $62 FOR WINDOWS 3.11; IS THAT

        15  CORRECT?

        16  A.   THAT'S CORRECT.

        17  Q.   AND CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT WINDOWS 3.11 WAS AT THIS

        18  TIME IN APRIL OR SO OF '96.

        19  A.   YES.  WINDOWS 3.11 WAS THE PREDECESSOR TO WINDOWS 95.

        20  IT WAS THE OPERATING SYSTEM THAT WE WERE SHIPPING UP UNTIL

        21  WINDOWS 95 WAS RELEASED, AND WE CONTINUED TO SHIP IT

        22  BECAUSE WE STILL HAD DEMAND FOR THE PRODUCT.

        23  Q.   AND JUST SO I UNDERSTAND, WHEN THIS AGREEMENT WAS

        24  PROPOSED TO YOU BY MICROSOFT IN APRIL OF '96, IBM HAD THE

        25  $9 ROYALTY FOR WINDOWS 3.11 LOCKED IN THROUGH A CONTRACT
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         1  THROUGH NOVEMBER--I'M SORRY--SEPTEMBER OF '97?

         2  A.   THAT'S CORRECT.

         3  Q.   OKAY.  SECOND, YOU SAID THAT SIGNING THE WINDOWS

         4  DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE WAS REQUIRED IN ORDER TO GET A

         5  LICENSE FOR WINDOWS NT 4.0; IS THAT RIGHT?

         6  A.   THAT'S CORRECT.

         7  Q.   AND AGAIN, CAN YOU EXPLAIN AT THIS TIME WHAT

         8  WINDOWS NT 4.0 WAS.

         9  A.   SURE.  MICROSOFT ALREADY HAD A PRODUCT IN THE MARKET

        10  CALLED WINDOWS NT 3.51, WHICH WE HAD A LICENSE AGREEMENT

        11  TO DISTRIBUTE.  THAT AGREEMENT EXPIRED ALSO IN SEPTEMBER

        12  OF 1997.  IT WAS AN AMENDMENT TO THE WINDOWS 3.11

        13  CONTRACT.

        14           A NEW VERSION WAS ABOUT TO COME OUT CALLED

        15  "WINDOWS NT 4.0."  WITH THAT NEW VERSION, WE HAD TO THEN

        16  SIGN A NEW LICENSE AGREEMENT BECAUSE IT WAS A NEW VERSION.

        17           MICROSOFT PRESENTED THE DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT

        18  TO US AND SAID THAT THE ONLY WAY THAT YOU CAN LICENSE

        19  NT 4.0 IS THROUGH SIGNING THIS DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE

        20  AGREEMENT.

        21  Q.   AND FINALLY, YOU MENTIONED THAT MICROSOFT SAID IF IBM

        22  DID NOT SIGN THE DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT, THAT IT COULD

        23  SIGN A SEPARATE WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT, BUT IT WOULD

        24  LOSE ITS MDA REDUCTIONS; IS THAT CORRECT?

        25  A.   UM-HMM.
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         1  Q.   CAN YOU EXPLAIN AT THAT POINT THROUGH WHAT PERIOD OF

         2  TIME ITS MDA--THE CURRENT MDA REDUCTIONS CONTINUED AND

         3  WHAT MICROSOFT SAID WOULD HAPPEN AFTER THAT TIME IF YOU

         4  DIDN'T SIGN THE FAMILY AGREEMENT.

         5  A.   THEY CONTINUED--THE CURRENT MDA AGREEMENT WAS IN

         6  PLACE THROUGH, I BELIEVE, SEPTEMBER OF 1996.  IF WE

         7  DECIDED NOT TO SIGN A DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT AND TRIED

         8  TO GO WITH A SEPARATE WINDOWS LICENSE IN ORDER TO PRESERVE

         9  THE PRICE OF THE WINDOWS 3.11 LICENSE, THEN MICROSOFT

        10  SAID, "WELL, THEN YOU WILL NOT BE OFFERED A MARKET

        11  DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT."  THEREFORE, WE WOULD--OUR PRICE

        12  FOR WINDOWS 95 WOULD EFFECTIVELY INCREASE $15 PER LICENSE.

        13  Q.   AND YOU MENTIONED EARLIER THE NUMBER $75 MILLION.

        14  CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT THAT IS, WHERE THAT CAME FROM.

        15  A.   FIFTEEN TIMES FIVE MILLION COPIES.

        16  Q.   AND 5 MILLION COPIES WAS WHAT IBM EXPECTED TO SHIP OF

        17  WINDOWS 95 DURING WHAT PERIOD?

        18  A.   ROUGHLY OVER THE NEXT 12 MONTHS OR SO.

        19  Q.   DID MICROSOFT EXPLAIN TO IBM AT ANY POINT WHY IT

        20  WANTED YOU TO GIVE UP THE $9 ROYALTY THAT YOU HAD FOR

        21  WINDOWS 3.11 AND AGREE TO A SIGNIFICANTLY HIGHER ROYALTY

        22  FOR THAT PRODUCT?

        23  A.   YES, THEY DID.

        24  Q.   AND WHAT DID THEY TELL YOU?

        25  A.   THEY WANTED TO LIMIT SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11.
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         1  Q.   DID THEY EXPLAIN WHY THEY WANTED TO LIMIT THE

         2  SHIPMENTS OF 3.11?

         3  A.   YES, THEY DID.  THEY WANTED MORE CUSTOMERS TO MOVE TO

         4  WINDOWS 95, AND MORE CUSTOMERS TO MOVE TO WINDOWS NT.

         5  THEY WANTED TO NOT HAVE TO SUPPORT WINDOWS 3.11 AS MUCH.

         6  Q.   NOW, YOU MENTIONED THE $9 PRICE THAT IBM HAD AT THAT

         7  POINT FOR WINDOWS 3.11.

         8           DID YOU BELIEVE THAT THAT WAS A PARTICULARLY

         9  FAVORABLE PRICE?

        10  A.   YES, WE DID.

        11  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE ABOUT

        12  WHY IBM'S PRICE FOR 3.11 WAS LOW AT THAT POINT?

        13  A.   THE LATE '80S, OR '87 OR '88, IBM HAD DEVELOPMENT

        14  AGREEMENTS, WHEREBY WE DID JOINT DEVELOPMENT WORK ON IBM'S

        15  OS/2 AND ALSO ON MS-DOS.  WE ENJOYED THAT DEVELOPMENT WORK

        16  THROUGH 1990 AND INTO THE EARLY NINETIES.  AS A RESULT OF

        17  THAT DEVELOPMENT WORK, WE WERE ABLE TO GET A FAVORABLE

        18  PRICE FOR WINDOWS 3.11.

        19           AROUND 1993--EXCUSE ME--FOR 3.1.  AROUND 1993,

        20  WINDOWS 3.11 CAME OUT, AND IT WAS TIME FOR US TO LICENSE

        21  WINDOWS 3.11 AGAIN.  AND WE HAD THE RIGHTS TO THE

        22  SOURCECODE FOR WINDOWS 3.10, AND IT THEREFORE COULD

        23  MIGRATE TO 3.11 BY HAVING THE PERSONAL SOFTWARE PRODUCT

        24  DIVISION MAKE AN IBM VERSION OF WINDOWS 3.11, OR WE COULD

        25  LICENSE THE WINDOWS 3.11 FROM MICROSOFT.  MICROSOFT KNEW
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         1  THAT.  WE CERTAINLY HAD A FAVORABLE PRICE.  WHAT THEY

         2  OFFERED TO DO WAS TO CONTINUE THE $9 PRICE THAT WE HAD.

         3  Q.   AND DID THAT OFFER RESULT IN AN AGREEMENT TO EXTEND

         4  THE $9 PRICE FOR 3.11 THROUGH SEPTEMBER '97?

         5  A.   YES.

         6           AND IT ALSO GAVE US AN OPPORTUNITY TO RECOUP THE

         7  INVESTMENT THAT WE HAD MADE IN THE EARLY EIGHTIES INTO THE

         8  EARLY NINETIES.

         9  Q.   IN THE COURSE OF THE NEGOTIATIONS THAT FOLLOWED, DID

        10  IBM CONSIDER AND ULTIMATELY AGREE TO A SUBSTANTIALLY

        11  HIGHER PRICE FOR 3.11 THAN ITS $9 PRICE?

        12  A.   YES, WE DID.

        13  Q.   AND WHY DID YOU DO THAT?  WHY WOULD YOU AGREE TO PAY

        14  MORE IF YOU HAD A YEAR AND A HALF LEFT UNDER THIS

        15  CONTRACT?

        16  A.   WE DIDN'T HAVE A CHOICE.  WE DID NOT HAVE A CHOICE.

        17  WE HAD NO PLACE ELSE TO GO.  WE HAD TO HAVE WINDOWS 95 IN

        18  ORDER TO BE IN THE PC BUSINESS.

        19           AND THERE WERE TWO LEVERAGE FACTORS THAT

        20  MICROSOFT HAD WITH US:

        21           THE FIRST ONE IS, IF YOU DON'T SIGN A FAMILY

        22  AGREEMENT, YOU GET NO NT 4.0 LICENSE.

        23           THE SECOND ONE IS, IF YOU DON'T SIGN A FAMILY

        24  AGREEMENT, YOU GET NO MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT;

        25  THEREFORE, YOUR COSTS WILL INCREASE BY $75 MILLION.
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         1           AND THIRD, WHILE WE ENJOYED THE WINDOWS 3.11

         2  PRICE, WE KNEW THAT DEMAND WOULD DECLINE OVER TIME, BUT WE

         3  WERE STILL ENJOYING FAVORABLE PRICES ON THAT PRODUCT, AS

         4  WELL.

         5  Q.   WAS HAVING A LICENSE FOR NT 4.0 SOMETHING THAT WAS

         6  IMPORTANT TO IBM AT THIS TIME?

         7  A.   YES.  THE MARKET HAD BEGUN TO CATCH ON TO WINDOWS NT,

         8  AND WE WERE CERTAINLY BEGINNING TO UNDERSTAND THAT

         9  WINDOWS NT WOULD BECOME AN IMPORTANT FACTOR IN THE MARKET,

        10  SO WE FELT WE NEEDED TO HAVE A LICENSE IN ORDER TO

        11  DISTRIBUTE IT AS WE WERE BEGINNING TO PREPARE PLANS TO

        12  LOAD WINDOWS NT ON OUR SYSTEMS.

        13  Q.   CAN YOU DESCRIBE JUST VERY GENERALLY THE PROCESS THAT

        14  YOU WENT THROUGH NEGOTIATING THE WINDOWS FAMILY--THE

        15  DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH MICROSOFT, AFTER YOU

        16  RECEIVED THE FIRST PROPOSAL.

        17  A.   DATING BACK TO APRIL, ONCE WE RECEIVED THE INITIAL

        18  LICENSE AGREEMENT, I MET WITH MY TEAM, AND WE DID AN

        19  ANALYSIS OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THAT FAMILY

        20  AGREEMENT, VIS-A-VIS THE OTHER AGREEMENTS WHICH WE HAD IN

        21  PLACE.  WE LOOKED AT THE NUMBER OF OPEN ITEMS THAT WE HAD

        22  IN THAT AGREEMENT, AND ALSO, PERHAPS, THE LEVERAGED ITEMS

        23  THAT WE HAD IN THE OTHER AGREEMENTS, TO SEE WHERE WE COULD

        24  TRADE TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PRICE AND VOLUME.

        25           WE DID THAT ANALYSIS AND THEN HELD A SERIES OF
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         1  CONFERENCE CALLS WITH MICROSOFT TO TRY TO WORK TO

         2  NEGOTIATE TO GET A BETTER PRICE AND GET BETTER TERMS AND

         3  CONDITIONS, AND THEY STARTED AS EARLY AS--I THINK IT WAS

         4  THE 30TH OF APRIL OR SO.

         5  Q.   I WOULD LIKE TO SHOW YOU A DOCUMENT THAT'S BEEN

         6  MARKED AS GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2180.

         7           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

         8  Q.   ONCE YOU HAD A CHANCE TO LOOK IT OVER--DO YOU

         9  RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2180?

        10  A.   YES, I DO.

        11  Q.   WHAT IS IT?

        12  A.   THESE ARE MY NOTES IN PREPARATION FOR AND, IN SOME

        13  CASES, DURING THE MEETING WITH MICROSOFT.

        14  Q.   OKAY.

        15           MR. MALONE:  AT THIS TIME, YOUR HONOR, I WOULD

        16  OFFER EXHIBIT 2180.

        17           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

        18           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 2180 IS

        19  ADMITTED.

        20                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2180 WAS

        21                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

        22  BY MR. MALONE:

        23  Q.   AT THE TOP OF YOUR NOTES HERE YOU LIST THE ATTENDEES

        24  AT THE APRIL 30TH, '96, NEGOTIATION MEETING; IS THAT

        25  CORRECT?
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         1  A.   YES.

         2  Q.   AND FROM MICROSOFT IT WAS MARK BABER AND WOLF STRUSS?

         3  A.   WOLFGANG STRUSS, YES.

         4  Q.   WOLFGANG STRUSS, ALL RIGHT.

         5           AND FROM IBM, IT WAS YOU AND A NUMBER OF OTHER

         6  PEOPLE?

         7  A.   YES.

         8  Q.   I WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU ABOUT A COUPLE OF THINGS IN

         9  YOUR NOTES OF THIS MEETING.  ON THE SECOND PAGE, THE ONE

        10  THAT HAS THE NUMBER 13370 AT THE BOTTOM, DO YOU SEE THE

        11  HEADING THAT SAYS "MS EXPECTATIONS"?

        12  A.   YES.

        13  Q.   CAN YOU DESCRIBE GENERALLY WHAT YOU MEANT TO CONVEY

        14  IN THE ITEMS UNDER THAT HEADING.

        15  A.   THESE WERE THE MICROSOFT EXPECTATIONS AS DISCUSSED

        16  BETWEEN MYSELF AND MARK BABER AS TO WHAT THEY EXPECTED OUT

        17  OF THE 4/30 MEETING.

        18  Q.   THE THIRD EXPECTATION HERE IS INTERNAL GOALS TO GET

        19  AGREEMENT EXECUTED JUNE 1ST.

        20           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        21  A.   I DO.

        22  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID MR. BABER TELL YOU ABOUT

        23  THAT GOAL?

        24  A.   BOTH HE AND WOLFGANG SAID THAT THEY HAD AN INTERNAL

        25  GOAL AND/OR DEADLINE FOR IBM TO SIGN THE WINDOWS DESKTOP
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         1  FAMILY AGREEMENT BY JUNE 1ST OF 1996.

         2  Q.   AND DID THEY EXPLAIN WHY THE JUNE 1ST DATE WAS

         3  SIGNIFICANT OR IMPORTANT TO THEM?

         4  A.   THEY SAID THAT THEY HAD INCENTIVES TO CLOSE THE

         5  AGREEMENT BY JUNE 1ST.

         6  Q.   LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, AT THE NEXT PAGE--WOULD BE THE

         7  THIRD PAGE OF THE EXHIBIT--WITH THE NUMBER 13371 AT THE

         8  BOTTOM.

         9  A.   UM-HMM.

        10  Q.   ABOUT MIDWAY DOWN THERE IS AN ENTRY THAT SAYS "MS

        11  4660."

        12           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        13  A.   I DO.

        14  Q.   AND BEFORE I READ THE REST OF IT, DO YOU KNOW WHAT

        15  THE "MS 4660" REFERS TO?

        16  A.   I DO.

        17  Q.   WHAT IS THAT?

        18  A.   MS IS ABBREVIATED FOR MICROSOFT.  THE 46 DOLLARS AND

        19  60 CENTS WAS THE CURRENT ROYALTY PRICE WHICH WE WERE

        20  PAYING FOR WINDOWS 95 PER LICENSE.

        21  Q.   AND WAS THAT THE ROYALTY PRICE AFTER YOUR CURRENT MDA

        22  DISCOUNT WAS SUBTRACTED?

        23  A.   YES.

        24  Q.   AND THE ENTRY HERE SAYS, "4660 IS NOT OUT OF PARITY

        25  WITH ANY OEM, EXCEPT COMPAQ, NOT DEC AND HP.  MICROSOFT
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         1  WOULD MATCH COMPAQ IF WE MADE THE SAME COMMITMENT THAT

         2  COMPAQ DID."

         3           DO YOU SEE THAT?

         4  A.   UM-HMM.

         5  Q.   WAS THAT SOMETHING THAT MR. BABER AND OTHERS FROM

         6  MICROSOFT HAD TOLD YOU?

         7  A.   YES.

         8  Q.   AND WHAT DID THEY TELL YOU ABOUT THE COMMITMENT, THE

         9  SAME COMMITMENT, THAT COMPAQ DID THAT IBM WOULD HAVE TO

        10  MAKE IN ORDER TO MATCH COMPAQ'S WINDOWS 95 PRICE?

        11  A.   IT DIDN'T CHANGE FROM THE PREVIOUS TIME.  IT WAS

        12  STILL--WHEN IBM STOPS COMPETING WITH MICROSOFT, THEN WE

        13  CAN HAVE COMPAQ'S DEAL:  PRICES, TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

        14  Q.   AND WHEN YOU SAY WHEN "IBM STOPS COMPETING," ARE YOU

        15  REFERRING TO THE PC COMPANY IN THE PRODUCTS IT SHIPPED ON

        16  ITS PC'S, OR SOMETHING ELSE?

        17  A.   I THINK IT WAS BOTH, BUT HE WAS REFERRING HERE, WE

        18  WERE SHIPPING OR BEGINNING TO SHIP SMARTSUITE, WE HAD BEEN

        19  SHIPPING OS/2.  SO, HE WAS REFERRING TO THE COMPETITIVE

        20  OFFERINGS THAT WE LOAD ON OUR SYSTEMS.

        21  Q.   LET ME SHOW YOU GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2183.

        22           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

        23  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2183?

        24  A.   YES, I DO.

        25  Q.   AND CAN YOU TELL US WHAT IT IS.
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         1  A.   THESE ARE MY HANDWRITTEN NOTES OF OBSERVATIONS OF THE

         2  DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT DISCUSSIONS.

         3  Q.   AND CAN YOU RECALL APPROXIMATELY WHEN THESE NOTES

         4  ABOUT THE DESKTOP FAMILY DISCUSSIONS WERE TAKEN?

         5  A.   BASED ON THE CONTENT, IT WOULD HAVE TO BE SOMEWHERE

         6  BETWEEN APRIL AND THE 1ST OF JULY--APRIL 30TH AND THE 1ST

         7  OF JULY.

         8           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I OFFER 2183.

         9           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

        10           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2183 IS ADMITTED.

        11                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2183 WAS

        12                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

        13  BY MR. MALONE:

        14  Q.   MR. NORRIS, I WOULD YOU TO FIRST LOOK AT THE SECOND

        15  PAGE OF THE NOTES, THE ONE THAT HAS THE NUMBER 90451 AT

        16  THE BOTTOM.

        17           DO YOU SEE THOSE?

        18  A.   YES.

        19  Q.   OKAY.  AND NEAR THE TOP OF THAT PAGE YOU

        20  SAY--ACTUALLY, SINCE YOUR NOTES ARE A LITTLE BIT HARD TO

        21  READ, WHY DON'T I ASK YOU TO FIRST READ JUST WHAT'S

        22  WRITTEN IN YOUR NOTES, THEN I COULD ASK YOU THAT.  IF YOU

        23  WOULD, PLEASE, THE LINE THAT BEGINS WITH "JOACHIM" AND

        24  THEN THE NEXT FOUR LINES ENDING WITH "LOTUS."

        25  A.   SURE.  "JOACHIM IS NOT AVAILABLE TO MEET WITH TONY AT
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         1  ALL.  JOACHIM WILL NOT MEET WITH TONY ON ROYALTIES OR

         2  IMPROVE RELATIONSHIP DUE TO LOTUS SMARTSUITE" WITH AN

         3  ARROW POINTING TOWARDS "DUE TO LOTUS."

         4  Q.   CAN YOU EXPLAIN HOW YOU KNEW THE INFORMATION THAT YOU

         5  WERE WRITING HERE ABOUT JOACHIM NOT AVAILABLE TO MEET AND

         6  WILL NOT MEET.

         7  A.   WE SCHEDULED CONFERENCE CALLS WITH JOACHIM FROM TIME

         8  TO TIME, AND TONY SANTELLI, TO BRING AN

         9  EXECUTIVE-TO-EXECUTIVE PEER.  WE HAD SCHEDULED A

        10  CONFERENCE CALL ON THIS OCCASION WITH JOACHIM TO MEET WITH

        11  TONY, MYSELF, MARK BABER, AND WOLFGANG STRUSS.

        12           BABER GOT ON THE TELEPHONE AND SAID THAT JOACHIM

        13  WOULD NOT BE AVAILABLE TO MEET WITH TONY AT ALL, AND HE

        14  WAS NOT GOING TO MEET WITH TONY ON ANY ROYALTIES OR

        15  RELATIONSHIP-IMPROVEMENT MEASURES BECAUSE WE WERE BUNDLING

        16  OR PACKAGING OR DROPPING LOTUS SMARTSUITE INTO THE BOX.

        17  Q.   THAT'S SOMETHING THAT MR. BABER TOLD YOU?

        18  A.   HE TOLD US ON THE PHONE, YES.

        19  Q.   I WOULD LIKE YOU TO LOOK AT ONE OTHER DOCUMENT.  THIS

        20  ONE IS GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 2185.

        21           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

        22  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE 2185?

        23  A.   YES, I DO.

        24  Q.   CAN YOU TELL US WHAT IT IS.

        25  A.   THESE ARE PREPARATION NOTES WHICH I PREPARED ON MY PC
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         1  TO PREPARE TONY SANTELLI FOR A CONFERENCE CALL THAT WE

         2  WERE GOING TO HAVE WITH JOACHIM KEMPIN ON JUNE 24TH, 1996.

         3           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2185.

         4           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         5           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT 2185 IS

         6  ADMITTED.

         7                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2185 WAS

         8                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         9  BY MR. MALONE:

        10  Q.   NOW, IF I UNDERSTAND CORRECTLY, THESE WERE NOTES THAT

        11  YOU PREPARED FOR MR. SANTELLI TO USE IN A PHONE CALL THAT

        12  HAD NOT HAPPENED YET?

        13  A.   THAT'S CORRECT.  I WAS PREPARING HIM ON WHAT WE

        14  NEEDED TO SAY AND THE THINGS--THE POINTS WE WANTED TO MAKE

        15  DURING THIS CONFERENCE CALL.

        16  Q.   DOWN ABOUT TWO-THIRDS OF THE WAY DOWN THE FIRST PAGE,

        17  YOU HAVE SOME BOLD TYPE WHERE YOU HAD WRITTEN, "JOACHIM,

        18  WHY ARE YOU TYING WINDOWS 3.11 TO OUR ABILITY TO GET THE

        19  MDA?"

        20           WHAT DID YOU MEAN THERE?  WHAT WERE YOU REFERRING

        21  TO?

        22  A.   AS I EXPLAINED IN THE--EARLIER TO YOU, IN ORDER FOR

        23  US TO GET THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT, AND ALSO

        24  QUALIFY FOR THE MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, WE HAD TO

        25  GIVE UP THE RIGHTS TO THE WINDOWS 3.11 LICENSE AGREEMENT.
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         1  AND IF WE DID NOT AND KEPT THAT WINDOWS 3.11 AGREEMENT,

         2  THEN WE WOULD NOT GET A DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT.  WE

         3  WOULD HAVE TO SIGN A WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT, RENEWED

         4  AT THE END OF SEPTEMBER, WHICH WOULD NOT HAVE AN MDA THAT

         5  WOULD APPLY.

         6  Q.   AND YOU THEN WRITE, "IS MICROSOFT PLACING COMPAQ IN A

         7  SIMILAR POSITION?  IS MICROSOFT STOPPING THE COMPAQ

         8  FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP?"

         9           WHY DID YOU PROPOSE THOSE AS THINGS FOR

        10  MR. SANTELLI TO ASK MR. KEMPIN?

        11  A.   WE CONTINUED TO HEAR FROM THE MICROSOFT ACCOUNT TEAM

        12  THAT BECAUSE COMPAQ DIDN'T COMPETE, THEY RECEIVED

        13  FAVORABLE TERMS AND CONDITIONS.  WE WANTED TO UNDERSTAND

        14  WHETHER OR NOT COMPAQ WAS BEING PUT IN A SIMILAR POSITION

        15  TO GIVE UP FAVORABLE TERMS OF OTHER AGREEMENTS, MUST GO TO

        16  THE FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENT IN ORDER TO GET NT 4.0, WOULD

        17  LOSE THE MDA IF DID NOT SIGN THE FAMILY AGREEMENT.  THAT'S

        18  WHAT WE WANTED TO UNDERSTAND.

        19  Q.   DID YOU HAVE AN UNDERSTANDING AT THIS POINT AS TO

        20  WHETHER COMPAQ, LIKE IBM, HAD AN EXISTING LICENSE THAT

        21  STILL HAD SOME TIME TO RUN WHICH GAVE IT A CERTAIN PRICE

        22  FOR WINDOWS 3.11 THAT THEY WOULD HAVE TO GIVE UP?

        23           MR. PEPPERMAN:  OBJECTION.  LEADING.

        24           THE COURT:  REPHRASE IT.

        25  BY MR. MALONE:
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         1  Q.   WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE AT THIS TIME

         2  ABOUT WHETHER OR NOT--ABOUT WHAT KIND OF EXISTING LICENSE

         3  AGREEMENT COMPAQ HAD?

         4  A.   WE DID INQUIRE THAT, AND THEY DID RESPOND--I REMEMBER

         5  TAKING ANY NOTES ON IT--THAT THEY HAD--THAT IT WAS A

         6  THREE-YEAR AGREEMENT, THAT THERE WERE TWO YEARS REMAINING

         7  ON THAT AGREEMENT; THEREFORE, THOSE TWO YEARS WOULD HAVE

         8  TO RUN.  THAT'S WHAT I RECALL AT THIS POINT IN TIME.

         9           THE COURT:  THIS IS AN INQUIRY YOU MADE OF

        10  COMPAQ?

        11           THE WITNESS:  NO.  THIS IS AN INQUIRY WE MADE OF

        12  JOACHIM KEMPIN AND MARK BABER ON THE TELEPHONE.

        13           THE COURT:  I SEE.

        14  BY MR. MALONE:

        15  Q.   AND DID YOU ASK MR. KEMPIN OR MR. BABER WHETHER

        16  COMPAQ WOULD HAVE TO GIVE UP ITS EXISTING CONTRACT AND ITS

        17  EXISTING PRICE THE SAME WAY THAT IBM WAS BEING ASKED TO DO

        18  SO IN ORDER TO GET THE FAMILY--IN ORDER TO GET CONTINUED

        19  MDA'S AND THE NT 4 LICENSE?

        20  A.   WHEN WE INQUIRED FURTHER AND FURTHER, MICROSOFT

        21  SIMPLY SAID, "THE AGREEMENTS WITH COMPAQ ARE

        22  CONFIDENTIAL."

        23  Q.   DO YOU REMEMBER ANY PARTICULAR REACTION FROM

        24  MR. KEMPIN WHEN THE ISSUE OF WHETHER OR NOT COMPAQ WAS

        25  BEING TREATED SIMILARLY TO IBM WAS BROUGHT UP?
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         1  A.   I DO RECALL THEY JUST REPEATED THAT COMPAQ HAS A

         2  FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP BECAUSE THEY DON'T COMPETE WITH

         3  MICROSOFT.

         4  Q.   DID IBM ULTIMATELY SIGN A WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

         5  AGREEMENT WITH MICROSOFT?

         6  A.   WE DID.

         7  Q.   DO YOU RECALL APPROXIMATELY WHEN THAT HAPPENED?

         8  A.   APPROXIMATELY THE MIDDLE OF AUGUST.

         9  Q.   AND DO YOU RECALL WHETHER OR NOT THERE WAS A MEETING

        10  BETWEEN COMPAQ AND--EXCUSE ME--BETWEEN IBM AND MICROSOFT

        11  REPRESENTATIVES ON OR AROUND AUGUST 13TH OF 1996?

        12  A.   YES.

        13  Q.   WHAT'S YOUR RECOLLECTION ABOUT SUCH A MEETING?

        14  A.   WE WERE READY TO BASICALLY FOLD ON ALL REMAINING

        15  ISSUES IN ORDER TO NOT RUN INTO THE PROBLEM WE HAD RUN

        16  INTO THE PREVIOUS YEAR OF BEING LATE TO MARKET, AND ALSO

        17  IN DANGER OF NOT HAVING A LICENSE AGREEMENT.  SO, WE WERE

        18  READY TO FOLD, AND WE WANTED TO HAVE A CONFERENCE CALL

        19  WITH MICROSOFT IN ORDER TO DO THAT AND GO FORWARD AND GET

        20  THE LICENSE SIGNED.

        21  Q.   OKAY.  I WOULD LIKE TO SHOW YOU GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

        22  2193.

        23           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

        24  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2193?

        25  A.   YES, I DO.
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         1  Q.   AND DO YOU RECOGNIZE THE HANDWRITING THAT APPEARS ON

         2  THIS EXHIBIT?

         3  A.   IT'S NOT MINE.  IT'S DIANA ROMERO'S, WHO IS PART OF

         4  THE NEGOTIATING TEAM.

         5  Q.   AND HOW IS THAT YOU KNOW MS. ROMERO'S HANDWRITING?

         6  A.   I WORKED WITH HER FOR QUITE A PERIOD OF TIME.

         7  Q.   AND THE DOCUMENT IS DATED 8/13/96 AND HAS A LIST OF

         8  NAMES FOR IBM AND FOR MICROSOFT; IS THAT CORRECT?

         9  A.   YES, IT DOES.

        10  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, CONNECTION IS THERE BETWEEN THE

        11  THINGS THAT ARE WRITTEN IN THE NOTES HERE IN THE AUGUST

        12  13TH MEETING THAT YOU DESCRIBED BETWEEN IBM AND MICROSOFT?

        13  A.   SAY--REPEAT THE QUESTION, PLEASE.

        14  Q.   SURE.

        15           WHAT, IF ANY, CONNECTION IS THERE BETWEEN THESE

        16  NOTES AND THE MEETING YOU DESCRIBED?

        17  A.   OF THE AUGUST 13TH MEETING?

        18  Q.   CORRECT.

        19  A.   LET ME READ THE NOTES, PLEASE.

        20  Q.   PLEASE DO.

        21           (WITNESS REVIEWS DOCUMENT.)

        22  A.   IT IS THE MEETING TO DISCUSS THE REMAINING ISSUES

        23  THAT WE HAD ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY.

        24           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I OFFER 2193.

        25           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.
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         1  BY MR. MALONE:

         2  Q.   AT THE TOP OF PAGE ONE, IS THAT THE LIST OF PEOPLE

         3  FROM IBM AND MICROSOFT WHO ATTENDED THIS MEETING?

         4  A.   YES.

         5           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2193 IS ADMITTED.

         6           MR. MALONE:  I APOLOGIZE, YOUR HONOR.

         7                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2193 WAS

         8                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         9           MR. MALONE:  I'M IN A LITTLE BIT OF A HURRY.

        10  BY MR. MALONE:

        11  Q.   MR. NORRIS, IF YOU WOULD LOOK AT THE TOP OF PAGE TWO,

        12  THE ONE THAT HAS THE 11627 AT THE BOTTOM, YOU SEE THE

        13  ENTRIES JK, TS, GN, JK?

        14  A.   YES.

        15  Q.   AND COULD YOU TELL US WHO OR WHAT THOSE INITIALS

        16  REFERRED TO THERE.

        17  A.   "JK" IS JOACHIM KEMPIN.

        18           "TS" IS TONY SANTELLI.

        19           "GN" IS GARRY NORRIS.

        20           "JK" IS JOACHIM KEMPIN.

        21  Q.   OKAY.  AND THE FIRST ENTRY, COULD YOU READ THAT,

        22  PLEASE, NEXT TO "JK."

        23  A.   SURE.  "APTIVA BUNDLES SMARTSUITE, NO QUOTE."

        24  Q.   AND THEN NEXT TO "TS."

        25  A.   "ANY TIME SMARTSUITE IS LOADED ON A MACHINE,

                                                           27

         1  MICROSOFT WILL NOT GIVE QUOTE."

         2  Q.   NEXT TO YOUR INITIALS, "GN."

         3  A.   "WHY WAS NT QUOTE PULLED?"

         4  Q.   AND THE FINAL "JK" POINT.

         5  A.   "SAME ISSUE:  SMARTSUITE IN BOXES."

         6  Q.   CAN YOU DESCRIBE WHAT'S BEING REFERRED TO HERE IN

         7  TERMS OF NO QUOTES IF SMARTSUITE IS BUNDLED?

         8  A.   SINCE IT APPEARED THAT WE WERE VERY CLOSE TO SIGNING

         9  THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT, AND THE FACT THAT WE

        10  HAD A NUMBER OF PRODUCTS, NEW PRODUCTS, IN WHAT WE CALL

        11  "OUR PIPELINE" THAT WERE BEING PREPARED TO BE ANNOUNCED

        12  INTO THE MARKETPLACE, WE WOULD ISSUE PRESS RELEASES TO THE

        13  NEWS WIRES TO ANNOUNCE THE NEW PRODUCT OFFERINGS.

        14           WE WERE ASKING MICROSOFT TO PROVIDE QUOTES

        15  COMPLIMENTING IBM ON USING WINDOWS 95 OR ON SIGNING

        16  LICENSE AGREEMENT, OR JUST QUOTES TO SAY THAT WE HAD

        17  WORKED--WE WERE WORKING TOGETHER, OR QUOTES THAT SIMPLY

        18  STATED THAT THEY WERE DELIGHTED THAT WE WERE PRE-LOADING

        19  WINDOWS 95.

        20  Q.   THESE ARE QUOTES THAT WOULD BE USED IN ADVERTISING OR

        21  PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS, THINGS LIKE THAT, BY IBM?

        22  A.   SOMETIMES NOT EVEN TO THAT EXTENT.  SOME WERE JUST AS

        23  SIMPLE AS IN ONE SINGLE PRESS RELEASE.

        24  Q.   AND WHAT WAS IBM'S PURPOSE IN ASKING MICROSOFT FOR

        25  THESE QUOTES TO USE IN CONNECTION--
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         1           THE COURT:  YOU'RE NOT TALKING ABOUT PRICE

         2  QUOTES?

         3           THE WITNESS:  NO, NO, NO, SIR.

         4           THE COURT:  THIS IS A QUOTATION THAT COULD BE

         5  USED?

         6           THE WITNESS:  IT WOULD BE A QUOTATION THAT WOULD

         7  SHOW--

         8           THE COURT:  A STATEMENT?

         9           THE WITNESS:  A STATEMENT SHOWING SUPPORT.

        10           THE COURT:  OKAY.

        11  BY MR. MALONE:

        12  Q.   AND WHY WAS IT IBM WANTED THESE STATEMENTS OF SUPPORT

        13  FROM MICROSOFT IN CONNECTION WITH ITS PRODUCT PLANS?

        14  A.   IT WAS PRIMARILY FOR MARKET PERCEPTION.  CUSTOMERS

        15  PERCEIVED THAT WHEN IBM AND MICROSOFT OR WHEN COMPAQ AND

        16  MICROSOFT OR HP AND MICROSOFT, DID THINGS TOGETHER

        17  PUBLICLY, THAT THEY WERE WORKING TOGETHER.  AND THE

        18  PERCEPTION WAS THAT THOSE TWO COMPANIES MAKE GOOD PRODUCTS

        19  TOGETHER.  YOU COULD RELY UPON THE TWO COMPANIES TO

        20  SUPPORT THOSE PRODUCTS, ET CETERA.

        21  Q.   WAS THAT KIND OF MARKET PERCEPTION THAT WOULD RESULT

        22  FROM QUOTES LIKE THIS, WAS THAT SOMETHING THAT WAS

        23  IMPORTANT AT ALL TO IBM?

        24  A.   YES, VERY IMPORTANT.

        25  Q.   WHY IS THAT?
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         1  A.   IF I JUST REFER BACK TO THE ENABLING PROGRAMS WE

         2  TALKED ABOUT THIS MORNING, THE MERE FACT THAT COMPAQ AND

         3  MICROSOFT OR DELL AND MICROSOFT COULD GO OUT AND MAKE

         4  CALLS ON OUR CUSTOMERS TO TELL THEM HOW WELL THEY HAD BEEN

         5  WORKING TOGETHER, OR THE FACT THAT THEY SEE QUOTES IN THE

         6  NEWSPAPERS FROM MICROSOFT AND DELL AND MICROSOFT AND

         7  COMPAQ, BUT WOULD NEVER SEE THEM FROM IBM, RAISED

         8  QUESTIONS IN CUSTOMERS' MINDS ABOUT OUR ABILITY TO SUPPORT

         9  THEIR ENVIRONMENTS.

        10  Q.   AND BASED ON YOUR EXPERIENCE, WAS THERE ANY ACTUAL

        11  IMPACT FROM THESE QUESTIONS THAT GOT RAISED IN CUSTOMERS'

        12  MINDS?

        13  A.   YES.  AGAIN, I PERFORMED SOME VERY SPECIFIC STUDIES,

        14  TWO IN PARTICULAR THAT I CAN RECALL WHERE I SURVEYED A

        15  NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS, WENT OUT AND MADE A NUMBER OF

        16  CUSTOMER CALLS, CONFERENCE CALLS WITH CUSTOMERS,

        17  CONFERENCE CALLS WITH RESELLERS, VISITS TO CLIENT

        18  EXECUTIVES IN THE FIELD, AND VISITS TO SALES REPS, TO

        19  UNDERSTAND THE IMPACT THAT THIS WAS HAVING ON IBM, THIS

        20  BEING NOT DOING JOINT THINGS WITH MICROSOFT.

        21  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, CONCLUSIONS DID YOU REACH FROM

        22  DOING THESE STUDIES AND SPENDING ALL THIS TIME WITH

        23  CUSTOMERS?

        24  A.   IN THE FIRST STUDY, WHICH WAS A VERY LIMITED STUDY OF

        25  APPROXIMATELY 14 ACCOUNTS, WE CONCLUDED THAT WE HAD LOST
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         1  ABOUT A HUNDRED AND $80 MILLION IN REAL BUSINESS, AND SOME

         2  VERY SPECIFIC LARGE ACCOUNTS IN THE UNITED STATES.  WE

         3  CONCLUDED THAT SEVEN OF THE TEN LOSSES WERE ATTRIBUTABLE

         4  TO CUSTOMERS HAVING A PERCEPTION THAT IBM LACKED NT

         5  SUPPORT OR LACKED A GOOD RELATIONSHIP WITH MICROSOFT.

         6           THERE WAS ANOTHER 40 MILLION OF OPPORTUNITY AT

         7  RISK THAT WAS ON THE TABLE CURRENTLY.

         8           AND IN SOME CASES, THREE IN PARTICULAR THAT I CAN

         9  REMEMBER, WE WERE TAKEN OFF WHAT IS CALLED THE "COMPANY'S

        10  STANDARDS LIST."  THAT LIST IS A SYSTEM OF SYSTEMS THAT

        11  EMPLOYEES OR DEPARTMENTAL MANAGERS CAN PURCHASE PC'S OFF

        12  OF, AND IT MAY OFTEN CONTAIN TWO OR THREE PC

        13  MANUFACTURERS, SO COMPAQ, DELL, HP, IBM.  AND IN SOME

        14  CASES, IBM WAS REMOVED AS PART OF THAT LIST, AND WE COULD

        15  NO LONGER COMPETE.

        16  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID YOU LEARN ABOUT THESE

        17  STUDIES WHY IN THOSE CASES IBM HAD BEEN REMOVED FROM THESE

        18  QUALIFIED OR PRE-APPROVED LISTS, IF YOU WILL?

        19  A.   FOR THE VERY SAME REASONS.  IT WAS CUSTOMERS'

        20  PERCEPTION THAT IBM AND MICROSOFT DID NOT HAVE A GOOD

        21  RELATIONSHIP, AND IT WAS IBM--EXCUSE ME--MICROSOFT AND

        22  COMPAQ MAKING JOINT CALLS ON LARGE CUSTOMERS, SHOWING THE

        23  CUSTOMERS THEIR CERTIFICATIONS FROM THE ENABLING PROGRAMS

        24  LIKE THE MICROSOFT CERTIFIED SOLUTION PROVIDER PROGRAM,

        25  LIKE BEING A PART OF THE AUTHORIZED SUPPORT CENTER
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         1  PROGRAM, AND THEN TELLING THE CUSTOMER TO ASK THEIR IBM

         2  SALES REPS IF IBM CAN DO THAT, DO THEY HAVE THIS

         3  CERTIFICATION; CREATING UNCERTAINTIES IN OUR CUSTOMERS'

         4  MINDS OF IBM'S CAPABILITY TO SUPPORT THAT ENVIRONMENT.

         5           THE SALES REPS WOULD THEN, IN TURN, CALL ME

         6  BECAUSE I WAS IN HEADQUARTERS AND THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE

         7  FOR THE RELATIONSHIP IN THE PC COMPANY TO CONFIRM WHETHER

         8  OR NOT WE WERE A PART OF THESE PROGRAMS AND COULD, IN

         9  FACT, OR COULD NOT SAY THE SAME THINGS.  I COULD NOT

        10  BECAUSE WE WERE ALWAYS--WE ALWAYS HAD BARRIERS TO ENTRY TO

        11  THOSE PROGRAMS IN THE PC COMPANY AND COULD NOT GAIN

        12  ACCESS.  AND SECOND, I WOULD TURN IT AROUND TO TELL THEM

        13  THAT WE COULD, IN FACT, SUPPORT THE ENVIRONMENT, BUT WE

        14  DIDN'T HAVE THE DESIGNATIONS.

        15  Q.   AND DID IT MATTER IN THEIR EFFORTS TO TRY TO SELL IBM

        16  PC COMPANY PRODUCTS THAT EVEN THOUGH YOU COULD DO THE

        17  WORK, YOU COULD MEET THE STANDARDS, THERE WASN'T THE

        18  PERCEPTION, AND YOU DIDN'T HAVE THE CERTIFICATION FROM

        19  MICROSOFT?

        20  A.   IT STILL MATTERED.  CUSTOMERS DID NOT HAVE A FIRM

        21  BELIEF THAT WE COULD PROVIDE THE SERVICES OR THAT WE HAD

        22  THE RELATIONSHIP THAT WE SAID WE HAD, THAT BEING ONE OF

        23  JUST SUPPORT AND SUPPORTING EACH OTHER'S PRODUCTS.  THEY

        24  SIMPLY DIDN'T BELIEVE, SO THEY BOUGHT ELSEWHERE.

        25  Q.   NOW, IN YOUR TESTIMONY A MOMENT AGO AND EARLIER THIS
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         1  MORNING, YOU TALKED ABOUT SOME SPECIFIC ENABLING PROGRAMS.

         2  JUST SO WE ARE CLEAR ON THOSE, COULD YOU GO THROUGH WHAT

         3  THOSE PROGRAMS WERE AND DESCRIBE IN A LITTLE BIT MORE

         4  DETAIL EXACTLY WHAT THEY WOULD PROVIDE TO AN OEM WHO WAS

         5  PART OF THEM.

         6  A.   SURE.  MICROSOFT OFFERS A NUMBER OF PROGRAMS TO PC

         7  MANUFACTURERS AND OTHERS.  THERE ARE FOUR THAT I CAN

         8  RECALL IN PARTICULAR:  THE MICROSOFT CERTIFIED SOLUTION

         9  PROVIDER PROGRAM, THE AUTHORIZED SUPPORT CENTER PROGRAM,

        10  THE AUTHORIZED TECHNICAL EDUCATION CENTER PROGRAM, AND THE

        11  LARGE ACCOUNT RESELLER PROGRAM.  THOSE WERE FOUR PROGRAMS

        12  THAT GAVE A VARIETY OF SERVICES TO CUSTOMERS THAT WOULD BE

        13  PROVIDED BY THE PC MANUFACTURER, OR WHOEVER THE PROVIDER

        14  OF THE SERVICE WAS.  THEY PROVIDED ANYTHING FROM LEVEL

        15  ONE, LEVEL TWO, MEANING DEFECT SUPPORT--EXCUSE

        16  ME--NONDEFECT SUPPORT OF PRODUCTS TO INTEGRATION SERVICES

        17  OF INSTALLING HARDWARE, SOFTWARE, SUPPLIES, INTO A SINGLE

        18  SOLUTION FOR A CUSTOMER'S ENVIRONMENT.

        19           IT ALSO GAVE THEM THE ABILITY TO DO TRAINING AND

        20  CERTIFICATION OF MICROSOFT-CERTIFIED PROFESSIONALS, OF

        21  WHICH THERE WERE FOUR DIFFERENT LEVELS OF CERTIFIED

        22  PROFESSIONALS.  ONE COULD OBTAIN ANYWHERE FROM A

        23  MICROSOFT-CERTIFIED PROFESSIONAL TO A MICROSOFT-CERTIFIED

        24  DEVELOPMENT ENGINEER, WHICH MEANS THAT YOU HAVE BEEN

        25  CERTIFIED BY MICROSOFT OR AN AUTHORIZED TECHNICAL
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         1  EDUCATION CENTER, TO BE PERSONALLY CAPABLE OF DELIVERING

         2  THE SERVICES THAT ARE APPLICABLE TO THAT LEVEL OF

         3  CERTIFICATION.

         4  Q.   I THINK YOU SAID THERE WERE FOUR THAT YOU CAN RECALL,

         5  AND I ONLY CHECKED OFF THREE AS YOU WENT THROUGH.  DO YOU

         6  RECALL THE LAST ONE?

         7  A.   THE LAST ONE WOULD BE THE LARGE ACCOUNT RESELLER

         8  PROGRAM.

         9  Q.   OKAY, I'M SORRY.

        10           DURING THE TIME, THE TWO YEARS THAT YOU WERE PART

        11  OF THE IBM PC COMPANY, DID YOU DO ANYTHING OR MAKE ANY

        12  EFFORTS TO TRY TO GET THE PC COMPANY TO BE PART OF ANY OR

        13  ALL OF THESE MICROSOFT ENABLING PROGRAMS?

        14  A.   YES, I DID.

        15  Q.   CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHAT THINGS YOU DID,

        16  WHAT DID YOU TRY TO GET INTO THE PROGRAMS.

        17  A.   ONCE WE LEARNED OF ALL THE PROGRAMS THAT WERE

        18  AVAILABLE TO US--THEY WEREN'T GIVEN TO US OR TOLD--WE

        19  WEREN'T TOLD THEY EXISTED.  ONCE WE LEARNED OF THE

        20  EXISTENCE OF THE PROGRAMS, WE FIRST APPROACHED THE OEM

        21  TEAM ABOUT BEING A PART OF THE PROGRAMS.

        22  Q.   I'M SORRY TO INTERRUPT.  WHEN YOU SAW THE "OEM TEAM,"

        23  YOU MEAN AT MICROSOFT?

        24  A.   MARK BABER AT THE TIME, AND LATER IT BECAME BENGT

        25  AKERLIND AND TED HANNUM.  WE ASKED THEM FOR APPLICATIONS
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         1  TO THE PROGRAM, WERE THE PROGRAMS OPEN TO ANYONE THAT HAD

         2  THE QUALIFICATIONS.  AND IN SOME CASES, THE QUALIFICATIONS

         3  WERE A MINIMUM OF TWO CERTIFIED PROFESSIONALS, A CERTAIN

         4  PERCENTAGE OF YOUR REVENUE COMING FROM THOSE SERVICES, AND

         5  THAT WAS IT.  WE WENT ON THE INTERNET AND FOUND THAT THE

         6  PROGRAMS WERE DESCRIBED AS BEING OPEN TO ANYONE THAT MET

         7  THOSE QUALIFICATIONS.

         8           WE ATTEMPTED TO WORK WITH BABER TO GET INTO THE

         9  PROGRAMS.  THEY WOULD SEND US TO VARIOUS PLACES IN

        10  MICROSOFT.  WE WOULD CHASE THOSE CONTACTS DOWN.  ONCE WE

        11  MADE THE CONTACT WITH WHO THEY POINTED US TO, THE CONTACT

        12  SAID, "I CAN'T TALK TO YOU.  THE OEM GROUP IS SUPPOSED TO

        13  DO THIS FOR YOU."  WE GO BACK TO THE OEM GROUP, AND THE

        14  OEM WOULD POINT YOU BACK TO WHERE YOU JUST CAME FROM.  SO,

        15  WE BASICALLY GOT THE RUNAROUNDS.

        16           AND THEN FINALLY, EVENTUALLY, BENGT AKERLIND SAID

        17  TO ME--HE SAID, "YOU COULD GET IN THESE PROGRAM WHEN THE

        18  TWO CHAIRMEN KISS AND MAKE UP."

        19  Q.   AND BY THAT, WHICH TWO CHAIRMEN WAS HE REFERRING TO?

        20  A.   HE WAS REFERRING TO LOUIS V. GERSTNER, JUNIOR, AND

        21  BILL GATES.

        22  Q.   NOW, YOU MENTIONED--LET ME JUST ASK YOU:  WHY IS IT

        23  AT LEAST SOME OF THESE PROGRAMS ONLY REQUIRED THAT YOU

        24  HAVE TWO PROGRAMS AND SOME MINIMUM AMOUNT OF REVENUE FROM

        25  THEM?  IF THAT WAS ALL THAT WAS REQUIRED, WHY DIDN'T YOU

                                                           35

         1  GET IN?

         2  A.   THEY WOULD NOT GET A STRAIGHT ANSWER.  WE COULD NOT

         3  GET A STRAIGHT ANSWER.

         4  Q.   IN THE FOUR PROGRAMS YOU DESCRIBED, WERE THESE

         5  LIMITED TO A VERY SMALL NUMBER, A HANDFUL OF VERY LARGE

         6  OEM'S, FOR EXAMPLE?

         7  A.   NO.

         8           IN FACT, ON THE INTERNET THEY WERE BOASTING OF

         9  SOMETHING LIKE 18,000 MICROSOFT-CERTIFIED SOLUTION

        10  PROVIDERS THAT WERE IN THE PROGRAM.  IT SEEMED, IF YOU MET

        11  THE QUALIFICATIONS ACCORDING TO THE RULES THAT WE COULD

        12  ACQUIRE, YOU SHOULD HAVE BEEN ABLE TO GET INTO THE

        13  PROGRAMS.

        14  Q.   HOW, IF AT ALL, DO THOSE PROGRAMS AND HAVING A LOT OF

        15  PARTICIPANTS--A LOT OF OEM'S, FOR EXAMPLE, IN THESE

        16  PROGRAMS--HOW, IF AT ALL, WOULD THAT BE A BENEFIT TO

        17  MICROSOFT'S CUSTOMERS?

        18  A.   I'M SORRY, REPEAT YOUR QUESTION.  I WAS POURING

        19  WATER.

        20  Q.   I'M SORRY.  HOW WOULD IT BENEFIT MICROSOFT'S

        21  CUSTOMERS TO HAVE LARGE OEM'S AS WELL AS OTHER

        22  PARTICIPANTS IN THESE VARIOUS PROGRAMS?

        23  A.   WELL, IT CERTAINLY WOULD LEND CREDIBILITY TO THEIR

        24  PRODUCT OFFERINGS ON THE PLATFORM OFFERING OF THAT PC

        25  MANUFACTURER.
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         1           IT ALSO SHOWED THAT THE TWO COMPANIES WERE

         2  WORKING TOGETHER, AND THAT THEY HAD THE CAPABILITIES TO DO

         3  INTEGRATION SERVICES, THE CAPABILITIES TO DO TESTING, AND

         4  THE CAPABILITIES TO DO SUPPORT.

         5  Q.   FROM YOUR PERSPECTIVE, HOW, IF AT ALL, WHETHER IT

         6  WOULD HAVE BEEN BENEFICIAL FOR MICROSOFT'S CUSTOMERS IF

         7  IBM HAD BEEN A MEMBER OF AND PARTICIPATING IN THE VARIOUS

         8  ENABLING PROGRAMS THAT YOU TALKED ABOUT?

         9  A.   IN SEVERAL WAYS.  IT IS POSSIBLE THAT WE WOULD HAVE

        10  BEEN ABLE TO SELL MORE HARDWARE AND MORE SOFTWARE TOGETHER

        11  WITH MICROSOFT EITHER IN THAT ACCOUNT OR IN OTHER

        12  ACCOUNTS.

        13           WE ALSO WOULD HAVE ASSURED THE CUSTOMERS THAT

        14  THEY WOULD ENJOY A BETTER END-USER EXPERIENCE WHEN WORKING

        15  WITH PLATFORMS FROM IBM AND FROM MICROSOFT.

        16  Q.   IN SPITE OF THOSE BENEFITS AND THE EFFORTS THAT YOU

        17  DESCRIBED, WAS THE PC COMPANY EVER ABLE TO GET INTO ANY OF

        18  THESE FOUR ENABLING PROGRAMS DURING YOUR TIME THERE?

        19  A.   DURING MY TIME OF SERVICE, THE PC COMPANY WAS NOT

        20  ABLE TO GET INTO THESE PROGRAMS.

        21  Q.   I WANTED TO BACK UP A SECOND AND FINISH OUT THE STORY

        22  ON THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT WE WERE TALKING

        23  ABOUT.  I BELIEVE YOU SAID YOU ULTIMATELY SIGNED THAT

        24  AGREEMENT IN THE MIDDLE OF AUGUST.

        25           CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHAT THE FINAL
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         1  TERMS WERE AS THEY RELATED TO IBM'S WINDOWS 3.11 ROYALTY,

         2  THE ONE THAT HAD BEEN $9 BEFORE.

         3  A.   OKAY.  THE FINAL TERMS WHICH WE AGREED TO WAS AS

         4  FOLLOWS:  THE WINDOWS 3.11 PRICE, WE AGREED TO DROP THE

         5  AGREEMENT THAT ENDED IN SEPTEMBER OF 1997, AND WE ACCEPTED

         6  A PRICE OF $40.  THAT $40 WAS GROSS OF THE MDA.  WITH AN

         7  APPLICABLE MDA ROUGHLY AROUND $15, THE PRICE WOULD END UP

         8  AROUND 25 U.S. DOLLARS.  IT REPRESENTED ABOUT TWO AND A

         9  HALF "X" INCREASE.

        10           THERE WERE TWO OTHER PORTIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT

        11  ON THE WINDOWS 3.11 AGREEMENT, ONE OF WHICH MICROSOFT

        12  OFFERED IBM AN INCENTIVE, AND THE INCENTIVE WAS THAT IF

        13  IBM'S SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11 FELL BELOW EIGHT PERCENT

        14  OF ITS TOTAL MICROSOFT OPERATING SHIPMENTS, MICROSOFT

        15  WOULD REBATE TO IBM 5 MILLION U.S. DOLLARS, WHICH HAD BEEN

        16  AGREED UPON IN A PREVIOUS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IN 1995.

        17           THE SECOND ASPECT OF THAT WAS THAT AFTER

        18  SHIPMENTS DID, IN FACT, FALL BELOW EIGHT PERCENT, THEN THE

        19  PRICE FOR WINDOWS 3.11 WOULD RECEIVE AN ADDITIONAL $6

        20  REBATE.

        21  Q.   LET ME BE SURE I HAVE THAT RIGHT.  UNDER THIS

        22  AGREEMENT, IF THE TOTAL NUMBER OF COPIES OF WINDOWS 3.11

        23  THAT IBM SHIPPED WAS LESS THAN EIGHT PERCENT OF YOUR TOTAL

        24  WINDOWS SHIPMENTS--

        25  A.   TOTAL WINDOWS SHIPMENTS OF ALL MICROSOFT OPERATING
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         1  SYSTEMS.

         2  Q.   --THEN FIRST YOU WOULD RECEIVE $5 MILLION BACK?

         3  A.   YES.

         4  Q.   AND WHAT WAS THE SECOND THING THAT WOULD HAPPEN IF

         5  IBM SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11 STAYED BELOW EIGHT PERCENT

         6  OF ITS TOTAL?

         7  A.   THAT WE WOULD GET A REBATE OF $6 PER LICENSE OFF OF

         8  THAT $40 PRICE, NET THE MDA, THEN NET $6.

         9  Q.   SO, IF IBM HAD SOLD A FEW MORE, 8.01 PERCENT, OF ITS

        10  TOTAL OF WINDOWS 3.11, ITS PRICE PER COPY OF 3.11 WOULD

        11  HAVE INCREASED $6; IS THAT CORRECT?

        12  A.   WE SIMPLY WOULD NOT HAVE RECEIVED THE $6 REBATE, I

        13  BELIEVE.

        14  Q.   AND DID THE $6 REBATE APPLY TO ALL COPIES OF 3.11

        15  THAT WERE SOLD?

        16  A.   WELL, REASONABLY IT COULD NOT BECAUSE IF WE EXCEEDED

        17  THE EIGHT PERCENT, THEN IT DIDN'T APPLY.

        18  Q.   I'M SORRY, IF--LET ME ASK IT A DIFFERENT WAY:  IF IBM

        19  HAD SOLD--HAD SHIPPED NINE PERCENT OF ITS TOTAL AS 3.11

        20  MISSING THIS EIGHT PERCENT MARK, WOULD YOU HAVE RECEIVED

        21  THE SIX PERCENT--THE $6 PER COPY REDUCTION FOR ANY OF THE

        22  COPIES OF 3.11 YOU SOLD?

        23  A.   NO.

        24  Q.   YOU ONLY GOT THAT IF THE TOTAL STAYED BELOW THE EIGHT

        25  PERCENT?
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         1  A.   STAYED BELOW THE EIGHT PERCENT.

         2  Q.   DID IBM TRY TO NEGOTIATE THIS EIGHT PERCENT FIGURE

         3  WITH MICROSOFT AT ALL?

         4  A.   YES, WE DID.

         5           THERE WAS ONE OTHER PROVISION OF THIS--THIS EIGHT

         6  PERCENT.

         7  Q.   GO AHEAD.

         8  A.   THEY PUT ONE OTHER TERM IN THERE, AND THAT WAS IF THE

         9  SHIPMENTS FELL BELOW 12 PERCENT IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF

        10  1996, THEN IBM WOULD RECEIVE HALF OF THE $5 MILLION AT THE

        11  END OF 1996.

        12  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID IBM TRY TO DO TO NEGOTIATE

        13  ANY DIFFERENT TERMS OR DIFFERENT PERCENTAGES RELATING TO

        14  THE VOLUME OF 3.11 THAT WOULD BE SHIPPED, OR COULD BE

        15  SHIPPED?

        16  A.   WE THOUGHT WE WOULD HAVE DIFFICULTY MEETING THE EIGHT

        17  OR THE TWELVE PERCENT, SO WE ASKED MICROSOFT TO MAKE THE

        18  TOTAL FIFTEEN PERCENT THAT WE COULD FALL BELOW.  THEY

        19  DECLINED THE OFFER.

        20  Q.   AND DURING THESE NEGOTIATIONS, DID MICROSOFT TELL YOU

        21  AT ALL WHY THEY WANTED TO OFFER INCENTIVES TO IBM TO

        22  KEEP--OFFER INCENTIVES THAT IBM WOULD RECEIVE IF ITS

        23  SHIPMENTS OF 3.11 STAYED BELOW EIGHT PERCENT OF YOUR

        24  TOTAL?

        25  A.   YES.
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         1  Q.   WHAT DID THEY WILL YOU?

         2  A.   THEY WANTED TO LIMIT THE SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11.

         3  Q.   YOU MENTIONED THAT YOU HAD MADE A COUNTERPROPOSAL TO

         4  MICROSOFT ABOUT WHAT THE PERCENTAGE SHOULD BE.

         5           WHEN DID IBM FINALLY ACCEPT MICROSOFT'S EIGHT

         6  PERCENT PROPOSAL?

         7  A.   I BELIEVE THEY SENT US A LETTER--ONCE THEY MADE THE

         8  FINAL OFFER, THEY SENT THE LETTER ON THE 28TH OF JUNE, AND

         9  WE HAD UNTIL THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON JULY 1ST TO ACCEPT.

        10  Q.   AND WHY DID IBM ACCEPT?  WHY DID YOU AGREE TO THAT

        11  TERM?

        12  A.   WE HAD NO CHOICE.  THEY SAID YOU HAVE UNTIL THE FIRST

        13  OF JULY TO ACCEPT.  THERE WASN'T A REJECT PORTION TO THAT.

        14  SO, I CALLED NEAR THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE FIRST OF

        15  JULY TO WOLFGANG AND MARK AND SAID WE ACCEPT.

        16  Q.   LET ME TURN TO A SLIGHTLY DIFFERENT SUBJECT NOW,

        17  MR. NORRIS.  WERE YOU INVOLVED AT ALL IN NEGOTIATING THE

        18  1997 MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR IBM WITH MICROSOFT?

        19  A.   I DON'T RECALL THE EXACT DATE WE RECEIVED IT.  I WAS

        20  THERE ONLY ON THE INITIAL DISCUSSIONS, AS FEW MONTHS LATER

        21  I HAD ACCEPTED ANOTHER ASSIGNMENT.

        22  Q.   AND THAT ASSIGNMENT WAS TO YOUR PRESENT--NOT TO YOUR

        23  PRESENT POSITION, BUT TO YOUR PRESENT ORGANIZATION WITHIN

        24  THE NETWORKING HARDWARE DIVISION?

        25  A.   YES.
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         1  Q.   AND SO YOU WERE STILL IN THE PC COMPANY WHEN THE 1997

         2  MDA PROPOSAL FROM MICROSOFT ARRIVED?

         3  A.   THAT'S CORRECT.

         4  Q.   OKAY.  AND HOW, IF AT ALL, DID THIS 1997 MDA COMPARE

         5  TO THE MDA THAT YOU HAD HAD THE PREVIOUS YEAR?

         6  A.   FROM WHAT I CAN RECALL IN THE EARLY ANALYSIS, WE

         7  ANALYZED THAT WE WOULD QUALIFY FOR ROUGHLY $5 LESS IN

         8  REDUCTIONS.  OR CONVERSELY, THE EFFECTIVE PRICE FOR

         9  WINDOWS 95 WOULD BE INCREASED BY $5.

        10  Q.   AND DURING THE TIME SUCH AS IT WAS THAT YOU WERE

        11  INVOLVED WITH EVALUATING THIS 1997 MDA, WAS THERE ANY

        12  INDICATION THAT MICROSOFT WAS WILLING TO NEGOTIATE THE

        13  AMOUNT OR THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT ALLOWED UNDER THIS MDA?

        14  A.   NOT THAT I CAN RECALL.

        15  Q.   LET ME TURN NOW TO THE SUBJECT OF MICROSOFT'S

        16  RESTRICTIONS ON THE FRONT OF SCREEN OR THE BOOTUP SEQUENCE

        17  FOR WINDOWS 95 AND ASK YOU, IN THE COURSE OF YOUR

        18  NEGOTIATING WITH MICROSOFT THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY

        19  AGREEMENT THAT WE HAVE BEEN TALKING ABOUT, DID MICROSOFT

        20  INFORM IBM AT SOME POINT THAT IT WOULD IMPOSE RESTRICTIONS

        21  ON IBM ADDING SHELLS OR WELCOME PROGRAMS AND CHANGING THE

        22  BOOTUP SEQUENCE?

        23  A.   YES.  I RECALL SOMEWHERE TOWARDS THE END OF JUNE THAT

        24  WE RECEIVED NOTIFICATION FROM MICROSOFT THAT THERE WERE

        25  TWO NEW TERMS THAT WOULD BE IMPOSED AS PART OF THE LICENSE
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         1  AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF LICENSE, ONE OF WHICH WAS

         2  RESTRICTIONS ON THE FRONT END--FRONT OF SCREEN ARE GUI,

         3  GRAPHICAL USER INTERFACE; AND ALSO LIMITATION, 90-DAYS

         4  LIMITATIONS IN TERMS OF FROM THE TIME YOU RECEIVED PRODUCT

         5  TO GET IT LOADED ON YOUR SYSTEMS AND SHIPPED.

         6  Q.   I'M SORRY, THE RESTRICTIONS ON THE GUI, THOSE WERE

         7  SEPARATE FROM THE 90-DAY RESTRICTIONS?

         8  A.   YES, TWO SEPARATE RESTRICTIONS.

         9  Q.   OKAY.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE VERY GENERALLY WHAT, IF

        10  ANYTHING, WAS IBM DOING WITH THE PC'S THAT IT BUILT AND

        11  SHIPPED TO ITS CUSTOMERS THAT WOULD BE AFFECTED BY THESE

        12  RESTRICTIONS THAT MICROSOFT TOLD YOU ABOUT IN JUNE OF

        13  1996?  JUST GENERALLY.

        14  A.   AT THAT TIME, IN ORDER TO DIFFERENTIATE PC'S THAT

        15  WERE SHIPPING FROM IBM VERSUS THOSE SHIPPING FROM

        16  COMPETITORS, WE HAD PERFORMED USABILITY STUDIES TO FIND

        17  OUT WHAT CONSUMERS WANTED IN TERMS OF EASE OF USE OF THEIR

        18  PERSONAL COMPUTER SYSTEMS.

        19           WE HAD DESIGNED A FRONT OF SCREEN CALLED THE "IBM

        20  WELCOME CENTER" WHICH BROUGHT THE USERS TO A SCREEN THAT

        21  SHOWED THEM HOW TO USE A MOUSE, HOW TO RUN WINDOWS 95,

        22  WHAT AN ICON IS, WHAT A FOLDER IS.  WE DID THAT BECAUSE A

        23  LARGE PERCENTAGE OF NEW USERS ARE NOVICES, AND WE WANTED

        24  TO ENSURE THAT THEY UNDERSTOOD HOW TO NAVIGATE, SO TO

        25  SPEAK, THROUGH THEIR PC.
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         1           WE ALSO WANTED TO MAKE IT AS EASY AS POSSIBLE FOR

         2  THEM TO USE IT SO THEY WOULDN'T FEEL COMPELLED TO CALL THE

         3  HELP CENTER JUST TO LEARN HOW TO USE A MOUSE.

         4  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHERE IN THE

         5  COURSE OF A USER'S--A NEW USER'S OPERATION OR USE OF AN

         6  IBM PC, WHERE THIS WELCOME CENTER WOULD APPEAR.

         7  A.   ONCE YOU FLIP THE SWITCH TO TURN ON THE SYSTEM, AND

         8  PRIOR TO IT COMING UP TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP SCREEN WITH

         9  THE START SCREEN, RIGHT THERE.

        10  Q.   AND WHY DID IBM CHOOSE TO PUT ITS WELCOME CENTER WITH

        11  THIS TUTORIAL AND THESE INSTRUCTIONS YOU DESCRIBED RIGHT

        12  THERE AT VERY BEGINNING OF THE BOOTUP PROCESS?

        13  A.   THE USABILITY STUDIES THAT WE HAD PERFORMED CONFIRMED

        14  THAT THAT'S WHERE USERS WANTED IT.  IT CONFIRMED THAT THEY

        15  FOUND THAT EASIER TO USE THAN THE WINDOWS START SCREEN,

        16  AND CONFIRMED THAT IT GAVE THEM EASE OF USE, AND AGAIN IN

        17  NAVIGATING THROUGH THE SYSTEM, TO LEARN WHAT A MOUSE WAS,

        18  HOW TO OPEN A DESKTOP FOLDER, HOW TO GET TO A CERTAIN

        19  ICON, HOW TO GO FOR HELP.

        20  Q.   LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2191.

        21           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

        22  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE 2191, SIR?

        23  A.   YES, I DO.

        24  Q.   OKAY.  AND CAN YOU TELL US WHAT IT IS.

        25  A.   IT IS A DOCUMENT FROM ARNIE WEKSLER AND JERRY KOZEL

                                                           44

         1  TO DEAN DUBINSKI AND MYSELF, DESCRIBING THE GRAPHICAL USER

         2  INTERFACE CONTRACT CONCERNS.

         3  Q.   AND CAN YOU JUST DESCRIBE BRIEFLY HOW THIS MEMO CAME

         4  TO BE CREATED, WHAT PROCESS WAS IT THAT LED TO THIS.

         5  A.   SURE.  IN THE COURSE OF MY OTHER RESPONSIBILITIES, I

         6  ALSO RAN A SOFTWARE PROJECT OFFICE THAT HAD TEAM MEMBERS

         7  THAT WE MANAGED IN A MATRIX-MANAGED FASHION.  ARNIE

         8  WEKSLER AND JERRY KOZEL WERE MEMBERS OF MY SOFTWARE

         9  PROJECT OFFICE.

        10           I ASKED, ONCE I FOUND OUT THESE NEW TERMS WOULD

        11  BE IMPOSED, TO HAVE EACH OF THE BRANDS COME BACK TO THE

        12  PROJECT OFFICE WITH THEIR LIST OF CONCERNS IN TERMS OF

        13  WHAT THEY COULD AND COULDN'T DO WITH THESE NEW FRONT OF

        14  SCREEN RESTRICTIONS.  THIS LIST REPRESENTS THE CONCERNS OF

        15  TWO OF THE BRANDS THAT WERE AFFECTED.  THIS DOES NOT

        16  REPRESENT THE THINKPAD BRAND.

        17  Q.   ARNIE WEKSLER AND JERRY KOZEL EACH REPRESENTED A

        18  DIFFERENT BRAND?

        19  A.   ARNIE REPRESENTED THE COMMERCIAL DESKTOP BRAND.

        20  JERRY REPRESENTED THE APTIVA OR THE CONSUMER BRAND.

        21  Q.   AND JUST SO I UNDERSTAND, THE BULLET POINTS THAT ARE

        22  LISTED HERE ARE THEIR DESCRIPTIONS OF THINGS THAT IBM

        23  WOULD NOT BE ABLE TO DO UNDER MICROSOFT'S PROPOSED SCREEN

        24  RESTRICTIONS?

        25  A.   BASED ON THE RESTRICTIONS AS PRESENTED TO IBM, THESE
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         1  ARE THINGS THAT WE WOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM IMPLEMENTING.

         2           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER EXHIBIT

         3  2191.

         4           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         5           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2191 IS ADMITTED.

         6                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2191 WAS

         7                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         8  BY MR. MALONE:

         9  Q.   MR. NORRIS, LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT THE SIXTH

        10  BULLET POINT HERE THAT BEGINS "WELCOME CENTER."

        11  A.   UM-HMM.

        12  Q.   DO YOU SEE THAT?

        13  A.   YES, I DO.

        14  Q.   AND WAS THAT THE WELCOME CENTER FOR NEW USERS THAT

        15  YOU WERE DESCRIBING JUST A COUPLE OF MOMENTS AGO IN YOUR

        16  TESTIMONY?

        17  A.   YES, IT IS.

        18  Q.   THE BULLET POINT RIGHT ABOVE THERE, "INFORMATION

        19  SCREENS, ASSISTING CUSTOMERS WITH INSTALLATION SUCH AS

        20  WARNING TO AVOID POWER CYCLING SYSTEMS DURING SETUP," DO

        21  YOU SEE THAT?

        22  A.   YES, I DO.

        23  Q.   AND WHAT ACTIVITY OR THING THAT IBM WAS DOING DID

        24  THAT REFER TO?

        25  A.   WELL, SOMETIMES A NEW USER MIGHT TURN ON THE PC, AND
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         1  THEN EITHER BEFORE IT GOT THROUGH ITS WHOLE SEQUENCE,

         2  STARTUP SEQUENCE OR THEREABOUT, JUST TURN THE POWER OFF ON

         3  THE SYSTEM WITHOUT TAKING THE NECESSARY REQUIREMENTS OR

         4  THE NECESSARY STEPS TO SHUT IT DOWN.  THIS WAS SIMPLY A

         5  WARNING THAT WE PUT IN FRONT OF ALL OF OUR SYSTEMS TO

         6  ALERT THAT USER NOT TO DO THAT.  FROM WHAT WE COULD READ

         7  IN THE CONTRACT RESTRICTIONS, WE WOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM

         8  DOING THAT.

         9  Q.   AND AS ANOTHER EXAMPLE, TWO BULLET POINTS DOWN FROM

        10  THERE, IT SAYS, "APTIVA-TYPE WELCOME GUIDE TO HEIGHTEN THE

        11  CUSTOMER'S EXPERIENCE WITH NEW FEATURES OF THEIR COMPUTER

        12  SYSTEM," CAN YOU TELL US WHAT THAT REFERRED TO.

        13  A.   CERTAINLY.  THIS WOULD GUIDE THE USER THROUGH ALL THE

        14  FEATURES OF THEIR NEW SYSTEM.  IT WOULD TELL THEM HOW MUCH

        15  HARD-DRIVE SPACE THEY HAD, HOW MUCH MEMORY THEY HAD, HOW

        16  FAST THEIR PROCESSOR WAS, WHAT OPERATING SYSTEM THEY HAD

        17  AND SO ON AND SO ON.

        18  Q.   AND FINALLY, JUST ONE OTHER EXAMPLE, THE THIRD BULLET

        19  POINT UP FROM THE BOTTOM, APPLICATIONS THAT DIFFERENTIATE

        20  IBM FROM OTHER OEM'S TO ENHANCE CUSTOMER "OUT OF BOX"

        21  EXPERIENCE, AND THEN IT GIVES AN EXAMPLE.  CAN YOU

        22  DESCRIBE GENERALLY WHAT THIS CATEGORY OF THINGS WAS.

        23  A.   THIS REALLY IS LINKED, ACTUALLY.  THERE WERE TWO

        24  SEPARATE ITEMS HERE, AND I WOULD LIKE TO TAKE THEM ONE AT

        25  A TIME.
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         1  Q.   PLEASE DO.

         2  A.   THE APPLICATIONS THAT DIFFERENTIATE IBM FROM OTHER

         3  OEM'S TO ENHANCE CUSTOMERS' "OUT OF BOX" EXPERIENCE IS ONE

         4  ITEM.  FOR EXAMPLE, IF WE WANTED TO ADD AN APPLICATION FOR

         5  A USER TO LEARN A TUTORIAL ON A GIVEN PIECE OF SOFTWARE

         6  THAT WE HAD INSTALLED, OR ANY OTHER APPLICATION, FOR THAT

         7  MATTER, THAT GAVE THE USER CHOICES AND RUNNING A

         8  PRODUCTIVITY SET OF APPLICATIONS VERSUS A GAME, ACCORDING

         9  TO THE CONTRACT CHANGES, WE WOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM DOING

        10  THAT.

        11           AND WHAT WE MEAN BY DIFFERENTIATING IBM IS THAT

        12  IF WE WERE RESTRICTED TO NOT INTERRUPT THE SEQUENCE AT

        13  ALL, IT MEANT THAT IBM'S FRONT OF SCREEN, HP'S FRONT OF

        14  SCREEN, PACKARD-BELL'S FRONT OF SCREEN, WOULD ALL LOOK THE

        15  SAME UNTIL WE GOT TO THE DESKTOP.  AND ONCE IT GOT TO THE

        16  WINDOWS DESKTOP, THEN YOU WOULD BE BEGIN TO SEE

        17  DIFFERENCES.

        18           BUT EVEN WITH THAT, THE ICON SIZE ALL HAD TO BE

        19  THE SAME SIZE OF THE OTHER ICONS THAT WERE ON THAT FRONT

        20  OF SCREEN.  SO, ANY USER WOULD SIMPLY LOOK AT ANY

        21  MANUFACTURER'S HARDWARE AND SAY, "OKAY, I DON'T REALLY SEE

        22  A DIFFERENCE UP FRONT.  I WILL BUY THE ONE I WANT TO BUY."

        23  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, BENEFITS TO CUSTOMERS DID IBM SEE

        24  OF THE ABILITY IT HAD PRIOR TO THESE RESTRICTIONS TO

        25  DIFFERENTIATE ITS MACHINES AND ITS STARTUP AND SCREENS
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         1  FROM THOSE OF OTHER OEM'S?

         2  A.   WELL, AGAIN WE DID USABILITY STUDIES, AND WE ALSO

         3  PERFORMED FOCUS GROUPS, WHERE WE DID BLIND COMPARISONS OF

         4  IBM'S SYSTEMS AND COMPETITOR'S SYSTEMS AND THEIR "OUT OF

         5  BOX" EXPERIENCE, USING THE WELCOME CENTER, USING THE

         6  WINDOWS STARTUP SCREEN, USING PACKARD-BELL AND OTHERS.

         7           THOSE USABILITY STUDIES CONFIRMED THAT USERS

         8  LIKED THE WELCOME SCREEN BETTER THAN THEY LIKED ANY OF THE

         9  OTHERS.  THEY THOUGHT THAT THEY WOULD MAKE PURCHASES OF

        10  THAT BECAUSE THEY WERE EASIER TO USE, VERSUS WHAT THEY SAW

        11  IN SOME OF THE OTHER PC MANUFACTURERS' STARTUPS.

        12  Q.   AND IN GENERAL, HOW, IF AT ALL, DID IBM BELIEVE THAT

        13  BEING ABLE TO OFFER THESE KIND OF FEATURES THROUGH

        14  DIFFERENTIATING YOUR SCREENS OR YOUR BOOTUP HELPED OR

        15  BENEFITED YOUR CUSTOMERS, YOUR END USERS?

        16  A.   FIRST, OUR USERS FOUND THAT THE SYSTEMS THAT THEY

        17  PURCHASED USING THE WELCOME CENTER THAT THE SYSTEMS WERE

        18  EASIER TO USE.

        19           SECOND, THAT THEY ENJOYED THE APTIVA EXPERIENCE,

        20  "OUT OF BOX" EXPERIENCE.  AND LET ME DEFINE THAT FOR YOU.

        21  THAT MEANS FROM THE TIME THE CUSTOMER GETS THAT BOX HOME,

        22  TAKE IT OUT OF THE BOX, UNWRAP IT, PUT THE SYSTEM

        23  TOGETHER, AND PLUG IT IN, AND THEN TURN IT ON TO WORK,

        24  JUST HOW PRODUCTIVE CAN THEY BE AND HOW MUCH DID THEY

        25  ENJOY THE "OUT OF BOX" EXPERIENCE, VERSUS HAVING
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         1  DIFFICULTY PUTTING THE SYSTEM TOGETHER, HAVING DIFFICULTY

         2  ONCE THEY TURN THE COMPUTER ON AND GETTING TO THE STARTUP

         3  SCREEN AND NOT KNOWING EXACTLY WHERE TO GO OR WHERE TO

         4  START.  IF, FOR EXAMPLE, THEY WANTED TO LEARN HOW TO USE A

         5  GIVEN APPLICATION, WHERE TO GO FOR HELP, THINGS LIKE THAT.

         6  Q.   AND UNDER THE RESTRICTIONS AS TOLD TO YOU BY

         7  MICROSOFT IN THIS TIME PERIOD IN 1996, HOW, IF AT ALL,

         8  WOULD THE ABILITY OF IBM AND OTHER OEM'S TO OFFER THESE

         9  KIND OF DIFFERENT OR DIFFERENTIATED EXPERIENCES FOR USERS

        10  BE AFFECTED?

        11  A.   THEY COULD NO LONGER DIFFERENTIATE BETWEEN THE

        12  STARTUP--THE TIME YOU FLIPPED ON THE SYSTEM--AND THE TIME

        13  IT GOT TO THE WINDOWS FRONT OF SCREEN; THEREFORE, THERE

        14  WOULD BE NO DIFFERENTIATION.  THE FIRST THING THAT A USER

        15  SAW ON ANY PC MANUFACTURERS' SYSTEM WOULD BE THE

        16  WINDOWS 95 START SCREEN.

        17  Q.   WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID IBM SAY TO MICROSOFT ABOUT

        18  THESE RESTRICTIONS, ONCE YOU LEARNED THAT MICROSOFT WAS

        19  GOING TO IMPOSE THEM?

        20  A.   WE HAD SEVERAL CONCERNS.  WE HAD CONCERNS ABOUT USERS

        21  CALLING THE HELP DESK MORE THAN USUAL, WE WERE CONCERNED

        22  ABOUT CONFUSION AMONG USERS, AND WE WERE ALSO CONCERNED

        23  ABOUT OUR COSTS GOING UP.  WE KNEW THAT AT THAT TIME THAT

        24  ONE CALL TO THE IBM HELP CENTER FROM A USER ON A PROBLEM

        25  THAT WAS A USABILITY PROBLEM COST THE IBM HELP CENTER
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         1  APPROXIMATELY $35.  THREE CALLS TO THE HELP CENTER WIPED

         2  THE PROFIT FROM THAT SYSTEM OUT COMPLETELY, SO WE WERE

         3  VERY CONCERNED ABOUT THAT.

         4           WE WERE ALSO CONCERNED THAT WE WOULD NOT BE ABLE

         5  TO DO SEVERAL THINGS.  FOR EXAMPLE, THE SECOND PART OF THE

         6  THIRD BULLET FROM THE BOTTOM THAT YOU HAD ME READ TALKS

         7  ABOUT INCLUDING IMPLEMENTING A NETWORK-READY SYSTEM

         8  PROVIDING NETWORK ADAPTOR AND SET UP CONFIGURATION.  THIS

         9  WOULD PREVENT US FROM INCLUDING IN OUR COMMERCIAL SYSTEMS

        10  ADAPTORS NEEDED TO START THE LOCAL AREA NETWORK ONCE THEY

        11  TURNED THE COMPUTER ON.

        12           AND WE WERE ALSO CONCERNED ABOUT THE FACT THAT WE

        13  WOULD NO LONGER BE ABLE TO DIFFERENTIATE IN THE

        14  MARKETPLACE, AND USERS WOULD BEGIN TO SEE OUR PC'S AS A

        15  COMMODITY.

        16           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, WOULD THIS BE AN

        17  APPROPRIATE TIME FOR AN AFTERNOON BREAK?

        18           THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.  FIFTEEN MINUTES.

        19           (BRIEF RECESS.)

        20           THE COURT:  OKAY.

        21  BY MR. MALONE:

        22  Q.   MR. NORRIS, BEFORE THE BREAK, WE WERE TALKING ABOUT

        23  THE SCREEN RESTRICTIONS OR FRONT OF SCREEN RESTRICTIONS

        24  THAT MICROSOFT IMPOSED ON IBM IN JUNE OF 1996, AND I WOULD

        25  LIKE TO ASK YOU TO LOOK AT WHAT HAS BEEN MARKED AS
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         1  GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2187.

         2           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

         3  Q.   SO YOU RECOGNIZE 2187, SIR?

         4  A.   YES, I DO.  I JUST WANT TO READ THE BOTTOM PARAGRAPH.

         5  Q.   PLEASE DO.  I DIDN'T MEAN TO RUSH YOU.

         6           (WITNESS REVIEWS DOCUMENT.)

         7  A.   THE TOP PARAGRAPH, YES.

         8  Q.   AND WHAT IS EXHIBIT 2187?

         9  A.   THIS IS AN E-MAIL--APPEARS TO BE AN E-MAIL--FROM

        10  JERRY KOZEL FROM THE APTIVA BRAND PRODUCTS TO DIANA ROMERO

        11  AND TO ME.  AND IT COPIES TWO OTHER INDIVIDUALS.

        12  Q.   AND THIS RELATES TO THE NEW RESTRICTIONS FROM

        13  MICROSOFT; CORRECT?

        14  A.   IT IS THE NEW LANGUAGE FROM MICROSOFT FOR THE WINDOWS

        15  FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENT.

        16  Q.   AND AT LEAST THE FIRST PARAGRAPH IS THE LANGUAGE WE

        17  HAVE BEEN DISCUSSING FOR THE LAST FEW MINUTES?

        18  A.   YES.

        19           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2187.

        20           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION.

        21           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2187 IS ADMITTED.

        22                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2187 WAS

        23                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

        24  BY MR. MALONE:

        25  Q.   MR. KOZEL BEGINS BY WRITING, "I JUST RECEIVED A FAX
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         1  FROM WOLF"--AND WOLF IS THE MICROSOFT OEM ACCOUNT REP FOR

         2  IBM; CORRECT?

         3  A.   WOLFGANG STRUSS, YES.

         4  Q.   "I JUST RECEIVED A FAX FROM WOLF THAT HAS THE NEW

         5  RESTRICTIONS FOR WELCOME PROGRAMS AND SHELLS, AND ALSO THE

         6  REQUIREMENT TO LOAD ALL NEW SYSTEM MODELS AFTER 90 DAYS OF

         7  AN OPK DELIVERY.  WE CANNOT ACCEPT THESE TERMS."

         8           MR. KOZEL THEN GOES ON TO WRITE, "AS FAR AS THE

         9  WELCOME AND THE SHELL GOES, WE ALREADY DO A LOT TO

        10  MAINTAIN THE WINDOWS DESKTOP ENVIRONMENT.  IF ANYTHING,

        11  OUR WELCOME PROGRAM HELPS ACQUAINT THE USER WITH THE

        12  MACHINE, MOUSE, WINDOWS, AND GENTLY DELIVERS THEM TO THE

        13  WINDOWS DESKTOP.  OUR WHOLE FOCAL POINT IS TO MAKE THE

        14  USER A KNOWLEDGEABLE WINDOWS USER."

        15           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        16  A.   YES, I DO.

        17  Q.   AND DOES THAT ACCURATELY DESCRIBE THE CONCLUSIONS

        18  THAT IBM HAD REACHED AT THIS TIME ABOUT THE PURPOSE AND

        19  THE EFFECT OF ITS WELCOME SCREEN AND SHELLS?

        20  A.   YES.  YOU MIGHT RECALL BEFORE THE BREAK I TALKED

        21  ABOUT THE USABILITY STUDIES AND THE FOCUS GROUPS WHERE WE

        22  WANTED TO CONFIRM THAT USERS FOUND THAT THIS WAS A GOOD

        23  END-USER EXPERIENCE.

        24  Q.   AND BASED ON THESE USABILITY STUDIES AND FOCUS GROUPS

        25  AND OTHER INFORMATION, CAN YOU DESCRIBE WHAT WAS MEANT
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         1  HERE BY THE TERM THAT THE WELCOME PROGRAM GENTLY DELIVERS

         2  USERS TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP.

         3  A.   WE THOUGHT, AGAIN THROUGH THE USABILITY STUDIES AND

         4  THE FOCUS GROUPS, THAT WE NEEDED TO CONFIRM THAT USERS HAD

         5  A GOOD END-USER EXPERIENCE WITH THE WELCOME CENTER AND

         6  WITH WINDOWS ONCE THEY WERE INTRODUCED TO WINDOWS FOR THE

         7  FIRST TIME.  IN DOING THE WELCOME CENTER AND ACQUAINTING

         8  THE USER WITH WINDOWS FIRST AND WITH THE IBM APTIVA FIRST

         9  THAT ONCE THEY GOT INTO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP, THEY WOULD

        10  ALREADY HAVE A WORKING KNOWLEDGE OF HOW TO NAVIGATE

        11  THROUGH WINDOWS.

        12  Q.   AT SOME POINT IN TIME, DID IBM MAKE ITS CONCERNS

        13  ABOUT THIS NEW RESTRICTION KNOWN TO PEOPLE AT MICROSOFT?

        14  A.   ALMOST IMMEDIATELY WHEN WE FIRST RECEIVED THE TERMS.

        15  Q.   AND DO YOU RECALL AT SOME POINT MR. SANTELLI, WHO WE

        16  TALKED ABOUT EARLIER TODAY, WRITING TO MR. KEMPIN ABOUT

        17  THIS PARTICULAR RESTRICTION WE HAVE BEEN TALKING ABOUT?

        18  A.   YES, I DO.

        19  Q.   OKAY.  I WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU TO TAKE A LOOK AT

        20  GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2141.

        21           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

        22  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2141?

        23  A.   YES, I DO.

        24  Q.   OKAY.  AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE WHAT IT IS.

        25  A.   IT'S A LETTER FROM TONY SANTELLI TO JOACHIM KEMPIN,
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         1  DATED JULY 30TH, 1996.

         2           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2141.

         3           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

         4           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2141 IS ADMITTED.

         5                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2141 WAS

         6                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         7  BY MR. MALONE:

         8  Q.   MR. SANTELLI BEGINS BY WRITING TO MR. KEMPIN, "WE ARE

         9  CLOSE TO FINALIZING OUR WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT.

        10  HOWEVER, MICROSOFT HAS RECENTLY IMPOSED TWO CONTRACTUAL

        11  RESTRICTIONS WHICH WE WILL NEED YOUR HELP IN RESOLVING."

        12           AND THEN IN THE NEXT PARAGRAPH HE LISTS, "FIRST,

        13  MICROSOFT SEEKS TO RESTRICT IBM'S ABILITY TO MODIFY, IN

        14  ANY WAY, THE STARTUP SEQUENCE OF THE MICROSOFT WINDOWS 95

        15  AND WINDOWS NT 4.0 OPERATING SYSTEM PRODUCTS."

        16           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        17  A.   YES.

        18  Q.   AND WAS IT YOUR UNDERSTANDING THAT THESE RESTRICTIONS

        19  ON MODIFYING THE SCREENS OR THE STARTUP SEQUENCE OF

        20  WINDOWS APPLIED BOTH TO WINDOWS NT 4 AS WELL AS TO

        21  WINDOWS 95?

        22  A.   YES.

        23  Q.   AND WAS THAT CONFIRMED IN DISCUSSIONS THAT YOU HAD

        24  WITH ANYONE FROM MICROSOFT?

        25  A.   YES, IT WAS CONFIRMED IN DISCUSSIONS WITH MICROSOFT
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         1  WITH WOLFGANG STRUSS AND MARK BABER.

         2  Q.   THAT PARAGRAPH CONTINUES, "IBM WILL ONLY BE PERMITTED

         3  TO ADD ICONS TO THE DESKTOP SCREEN."

         4           IS THAT YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT MICROSOFT

         5  WAS--WAS THAT YOUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE EFFECT OF

         6  MICROSOFT'S RESTRICTIONS AS THEY EXISTED AT THIS TIME?

         7  A.   YES.

         8  Q.   MR. SANTELLI THEN CONTINUES TO MR. KEMPIN, "THIS

         9  RESTRICTION WILL NEGATE THE SYSTEM TUTORIAL FEATURES THAT

        10  ARE CURRENTLY BOOTING AND WILL MAKE THE SYSTEM HARDER TO

        11  USE, PARTICULARLY FOR COMPUTER NOVICES."

        12           WHAT, IF ANY, UNDERSTANDING DID YOU HAVE AT THE

        13  TIME ABOUT WHETHER THAT WAS AN ACCURATE STATEMENT?

        14  A.   I WROTE THIS LETTER FOR TONY, AND AS I EXPLAINED

        15  EARLIER--

        16           THE COURT:  YOU WROTE THIS LETTER FOR

        17  MR. SANTELLI?

        18           THE WITNESS:  YES, I DID.

        19           AS I STATED EARLIER, WE WANTED TO MAKE SURE THAT

        20  MICROSOFT UNDERSTOOD THAT THE SYSTEM WOULD BECOME HARDER

        21  TO USE, AND THAT USERS WOULD BE CONFUSED AS TO WHERE TO GO

        22  WITHOUT SOME SORT OF HELP PRIOR TO GETTING TO THE WINDOWS

        23  SCREEN.  USABILITY STUDIES HAD CONFIRMED THAT, AND OUR

        24  FOCUS GROUPS HAD CONFIRMED THAT, AND THAT WAS THE PURPOSE

        25  OF PUTTING THAT IN THE LETTER.
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         1  BY MR. MALONE:

         2  Q.   HE THEN GOES ON AND WRITES THAT THE RESTRICTION

         3  FURTHER UNDERMINES THE SIGNIFICANT VALUE THAT WE NOW BRING

         4  TO THE END USER'S FIRST EXPERIENCE WITH THEIR SYSTEMS.

         5  A.   UM-HMM.

         6  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE HOW THE THINGS YOU HAVE BEEN

         7  CHARACTERIZING IN YOUR TESTIMONY, THE THINGS THAT IBM DID,

         8  BROUGHT SIGNIFICANT VALUE TO THE END USER'S FIRST

         9  EXPERIENCE.

        10  A.   RIGHT.  IN THE CONSUMER MARKETPLACE, VALUE-ADD IS

        11  VERY IMPORTANT.  THE REASON WE DID THE USABILITY STUDIES

        12  AND THE FOCUS GROUPS THAT WE DID, AND THE REASON WE

        13  INVESTED THE MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN THOSE USABILITY

        14  STUDIES AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE WELCOME CENTER, WAS, IN

        15  FACT, TO DIFFERENTIATE THE IBM APTIVA "OUT OF BOX"

        16  EXPERIENCE AND END-USER EXPERIENCE WITH THAT OF OUR

        17  COMPETITORS' IN THE SAME RETAIL SPACE LIKE PACKARD-BELL

        18  AND GATEWAY AND OTHERS.

        19           THIS FRONT OF SCREEN RESTRICTION WOULD MEAN THAT

        20  WE WOULD HAVE TO SCRAP THE INVESTMENTS THAT WE'D MADE IN

        21  THE DEVELOPMENT OF THAT CENTER, OR AT LEAST REWORK IT.

        22  AND IT WOULD ALSO MEAN THAT THE USABILITY STUDIES AND THE

        23  DOLLARS WE PAID TO CONFIRM AND VALIDATE IN THE FOCUS

        24  GROUPS WOULD JUST GO RIGHT OUT THE WINDOW.

        25  Q.   WHAT, IF ANYTHING, WOULD IT MEAN ABOUT WHETHER OR
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         1  NOT, EVEN WITH REWORKING, YOU COULD STILL DELIVER THIS

         2  SIGNIFICANT ADDED VALUE TO YOUR CUSTOMERS THAT YOU HAD

         3  BEEN DELIVERING PREVIOUSLY BEFORE THESE RESTRICTIONS?

         4  A.   I'M SORRY, REPEAT THE QUESTION.

         5  Q.   SURE.

         6           WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID THESE RESTRICTIONS MEAN

         7  ABOUT WHETHER, EVEN IF YOU WERE TO REWORK YOUR WELCOME

         8  SCREEN, YOU WOULD BE ABLE TO DELIVER THE SAME AMOUNT OF

         9  VALUE TO END USERS AND NEW CUSTOMERS?

        10  A.   WELL, MICROSOFT WOULD ALLOW US TO ADD AN ICON TO THE

        11  STARTUP DESK OR THE FRONT OF SCREEN.  THAT ICON HAD TO BE

        12  OF THE SAME SIZE, SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS AND COULDN'T BE ANY

        13  DIFFERENT THAN AN ICON THAT MICROSOFT ALREADY HAD.

        14           AND YOU ALSO COULDN'T CHANGE ANY OF THE ICONS

        15  THAT MICROSOFT HAD ALREADY PUT IN WINDOWS 95 EITHER, SO A

        16  USER WOULD HAVE TO CONSCIENTIOUSLY KNOW THAT THEY WANTED

        17  TO GO AND MAKE AN OVERT STEP--TAKE AN OVERT STEP IN ORDER

        18  TO OPEN THAT PARTICULAR APPLICATION.

        19           ONCE THEY DID THAT, THEN CERTAINLY--YOU COULD

        20  CERTAINLY PUT THAT APPLICATION IN THAT ICON, BUT THE USER

        21  WOULD HAVE TO KNOW HOW TO DO THAT, HOW TO GET TO IT, HOW

        22  TO USE THE MOUSE TO DO IT.  THEY WOULD HAVE TO BE MORE

        23  THAN A NOVICE, CERTAINLY.

        24  Q.   AND WHEN YOU REFERRED TO IBM PUTTING THAT APPLICATION

        25  IN THE FORM WHERE IT COULD BE LAUNCHED FROM AN ICON FROM
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         1  THE DESKTOP, ARE YOU REFERRING TO THE WELCOME CENTER?

         2  A.   I'M SORRY, I THOUGHT THAT'S WHAT YOU WERE REFERRING

         3  TO, YES.

         4  Q.   AND BASED ON THE USABILITY STUDIES AND FOCUS GROUPS

         5  AND OTHER THINGS, DID YOU HAVE A VIEW AT THIS TIME ABOUT

         6  WHETHER USERS WOULD BE MORE OR LESS LIKELY TO ACTUALLY

         7  FIND AND USE THE WELCOME CENTER AND BENEFIT FROM IT IF IT

         8  WAS AN ICON ON THE DESKTOP RATHER THAN PRESENTED TO THE

         9  USER AS THE FIRST THING THEY SAW?

        10  A.   WE CONCLUDED THAT IT WAS THE FORMER, THAT THEY WOULD

        11  BE LESS LIKELY.

        12  Q.   AND WHY DID YOU BELIEVE THAT?

        13  A.   AGAIN, WE HAD DONE USABILITY STUDIES TO UNDERSTAND

        14  WHETHER OR NOT END USERS FOUND IT EASIER TO USE THE SYSTEM

        15  WITH THE WELCOME CENTER COMING UP FIRST.

        16           WE ALSO DID SOME INTERNAL STUDIES, ONCE WE GOT

        17  THE FRONT OF SCREEN RESTRICTION, TO MAKE SURE THAT WE WERE

        18  CLEAR AND THAT WE UNDERSTOOD WHETHER OR NOT USERS WOULD

        19  KNOW TO GO IMMEDIATELY TO THAT ICON.  WE DETERMINED THAT

        20  THEY WOULD NOT.

        21  Q.   NOW, YOU MENTIONED EARLIER THE ISSUE OF SUPPORT

        22  CALLS, AND LET ME ASK:  HOW, IF AT ALL, DID THE IBM

        23  WELCOME CENTER AND THE OTHER THINGS THAT YOU WERE ABLE TO

        24  DO TO DIFFERENTIATE YOUR MACHINES BEFORE THIS RESTRICTION

        25  HELP LOWER OR AVOID CUSTOMER SUPPORT CALLS TO IBM?
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         1  A.   IT MADE CUSTOMERS MORE SELF-SUFFICIENT THROUGH THE

         2  USE OF THE HELP SCREENS, THE WELCOME CENTER, THE

         3  CAPABILITY FOR THEM TO USE THE MOUSE TO HELP THEM NAVIGATE

         4  THROUGH THE SYSTEM, THROUGH THE HELP SCREENS, HOW TO

         5  INSTALL A PRINTER, HOW TO INSTALL OTHER DEVICES, HOW TO

         6  INSTALL OTHER APPLICATIONS.  IT MADE IT VERY INTUITIVE FOR

         7  USERS TO USE IT.

         8           IF THEY HAD TO GO TO THE WINDOWS STARTUP SCREEN,

         9  THE STARTUP SCREEN THAT CAME UP WITH THE STANDARD WINDOWS

        10  STARTUP SCREEN WOULD START AT THE BOTTOM AND THE ICONS, WE

        11  EXPECTED THAT WE WOULD HAVE SOME INCREASE IN OUR HELP

        12  CENTER CALLS.  AND AS I EXPLAINED EARLIER, EACH OF THOSE

        13  CALLS TO THE HELP CENTER WOULD COST APPROXIMATELY $35.

        14  THREE CALLS TO THE HELP CENTER WOULD WIPE THE PROFIT FROM

        15  THAT SYSTEM OUT.

        16  Q.   AND IF YOUR USERS DID HAVE CONFUSION OR MORE TROUBLE

        17  KNOWING HOW TO USE AN IBM PC WITH WINDOWS ON IT AT THIS

        18  POINT, WHY WOULD YOU EXPECT THEM TO CALL YOU AND NOT CALL

        19  MICROSOFT?

        20  A.   THAT'S THE WAY THE LICENSE ARRANGEMENTS WERE MADE.

        21  MICROSOFT--THE WAY THE LICENSES WERE ARRANGED, THE PC

        22  MANUFACTURER, AT LEAST IN OUR CASE--AND IT MAY HAVE BEEN

        23  THE CASE IN OTHERS--I DON'T KNOW--ANY CALLS FOR HELP CAME

        24  TO IBM, NOT TO MICROSOFT.

        25  Q.   LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE--DO YOU STILL HAVE EXHIBIT
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         1  2193 IN FRONT OF YOU?  THOSE ARE THE DIANA ROMERO NOTES OF

         2  THE AUGUST 13TH, 1996, MEETING.

         3  A.   YES, I DO.

         4  Q.   AND IF YOU WOULD, LOOK AT THE SECOND PAGE ABOUT A

         5  QUARTER OF THE WAY DOWN, THERE IS THE HEADING "CONTRACT

         6  ISSUES."

         7           DO YOU SEE THAT?

         8  A.   ON WHICH PAGE?

         9  Q.   THE SECOND PAGE, THE ONE WITH THE NUMBER 11627 AT THE

        10  BOTTOM.

        11  A.   YES, I SEE IT.

        12  Q.   OKAY.  AND UNDER NUMBER ONE THERE IS THE REFERENCE TO

        13  GUI, AND THAT'S GRAPHICAL USER INTERFACE AS YOU DESCRIBED

        14  EARLIER.

        15           MS. ROMERO WRITES, "JOSE TALKED ABOUT AFFECT FOR

        16  APTIVA."

        17           WHO IS JOSE AS REFERRED TO HERE?

        18  A.   JOSE GARCIA WAS THE GENERAL MANAGER OF THE IBM APTIVA

        19  CONSUMER BRAND AT THIS TIME.

        20  Q.   AND WAS THIS INFORMATION THAT HE WAS PROVIDING TO

        21  MR. KEMPIN AND MR. BABER AND MR. STRUSS IN THE COURSE OF

        22  THIS MEETING?

        23  A.   YES.

        24  Q.   SO, THE NOTES CONTINUE.  "JOSE TALKED ABOUT AFFECT

        25  FOR APTIVA DIFFERENTIATION SUPPORT, USABILITY, EASE OF USE
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         1  AND SETUP."

         2           DO YOU SEE THAT?

         3  A.   I DO.

         4  Q.   WERE THOSE ALL OF THOSE CONCERNS THAT YOU HAVE BEEN

         5  TALKING ABOUT, WERE THOSE ACTUALLY CONVEYED TO MICROSOFT

         6  AT THIS TIME?

         7  A.   ON MORE THAN ONE OCCASION, YES.

         8  Q.   AND MS. ROMERO'S NOTES ALSO WRITE, "MAJOR BLOW TO

         9  BRAND AND VALUE."

        10           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        11  A.   YES.

        12  Q.   IN WHAT WAY, IF AT ALL, WERE THESE RESTRICTIONS A

        13  MAJOR BLOW TO IBM'S BRAND AND VALUE?

        14  A.   AS I STATED TO YOU EARLIER, SINCE ALL PC

        15  MANUFACTURERS, AS WE WERE TOLD AT THAT TIME, WOULD BE

        16  REQUIRED TO IMPLEMENT THIS NEW FRONT OF SCREEN

        17  RESTRICTION, THEN THERE COULD BE NO DIFFERENTIATION PRIOR

        18  TO THE TIME YOU GOT TO THE WINDOWS DESKTOP; THEREFORE, WE

        19  THOUGHT THAT WE WOULD BE COMPETING ON PRICE ALONE AND THAT

        20  THE PC'S WOULD BECOME A COMMODITY.

        21           THE APTIVA BRAND AS WE KNEW IT AND HAD

        22  DIFFERENTIATED IT WITH EASE-OF-USE FEATURES, WITH THE

        23  WELCOME CENTER, WITH THIS NEW FRONT END WE HAD BEEN

        24  WORKING ON BASED ON THE MARKET DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS WE

        25  RECEIVED EARLIER IN THE YEAR WHICH HAD NOTHING TO DO WITH
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         1  THIS FRONT OF SCREEN RESTRICTION, WE WERE GOING DOWN A

         2  PATH TO DEVELOP SOMETHING NEW CALLED ACCESS APTIVA.

         3           ALL THOSE THINGS WOULD HAVE TO BE SCRAPPED.  THE

         4  BRAND WOULD BE IMPACTED IN A MAJOR WAY IN THAT APTIVA IS

         5  AN APTIVA.  IT'S GOT WINDOWS 95.  STARTUP IS THE SAME.

         6  PACKARD-BELL, THE STARTUP IS THE SAME.  THE ONLY

         7  DIFFERENTIATION WOULD BE IN YOUR PRICE AND WHATEVER THE

         8  CONFIGURATION OF THE HARDWARE WOULD BE.  THAT'S WHAT'S

         9  MEANT BY THE BRAND AND THE VALUE.

        10  Q.   WHILE WE ARE ON THIS PAGE, LET ME ASK YOU SOMETHING

        11  THAT I FORGOT EARLIER WHEN I WAS REFERRING TO A DIFFERENT

        12  PART OF IT.  AT THE VERY TOP NEXT TO THE FIRST ENTRY "JK,"

        13  IT SAYS, "APTIVA BUNDLES SMARTSUITE," AND THERE ARE THREE

        14  LITTLE DOTS AND SAYS "NO QUOTE."

        15           DO YOU HAVE AN UNDERSTANDING WHAT WAS MEANT BY

        16  THE THREE DOTS THERE?

        17  A.   YEAH.  THEREFORE.  IT'S A CONTINUATION.

        18  Q.   THE SENTENCE WOULD BE, "APTIVA BUNDLES SMARTSUITE,

        19  THEREFORE, NO QUOTE"?

        20  A.   NO QUOTE.  AGAIN, WE ARE REFERRING BACK TO WHERE WE

        21  ASKED FOR PRESS RELEASES OR STATEMENTS TO BE MADE IN OUR

        22  PRESS RELEASES, AND THEY WOULD TELL US, "BECAUSE YOU

        23  BUNDLED SMARTSUITE"--AND IN THIS CASE THAT'S WHAT THIS

        24  SHOULD SAYS--"THEREFORE, NO QUOTE."

        25  Q.   NOW, BEFORE MICROSOFT ADVISED IBM THAT IT WAS
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         1  IMPOSING THIS NEW SCREEN RESTRICTION IN THE CONTRACT, OR

         2  IN THE COURSE OF TALKING TO MICROSOFT ABOUT THIS NEW

         3  RESTRICTION, DID MICROSOFT EVER COMPLAIN TO IBM THAT YOUR

         4  WELCOME CENTER OR ANY OF THE OTHER THINGS THAT YOU HAD

         5  DONE THAT WOULD NO LONGER BE ALLOWED UNDER THIS

         6  RESTRICTION WERE CAUSING ANY KIND OF QUALITY PROBLEMS WITH

         7  WINDOWS?

         8  A.   NO.

         9  Q.   DID MICROSOFT EVER TELL YOU THAT ANYTHING THAT IBM

        10  WAS DOING THAT WOULD BE PROHIBITED BY THE NEW SCREEN

        11  RESTRICTIONS WAS, IN ANY WAY, CAUSING CUSTOMER CONFUSION

        12  OR CUSTOMER UNHAPPINESS?

        13  A.   NO.  CONTRARY.  THEY SAID THAT THEY THOUGHT THAT OUR

        14  WELCOME CENTER ENHANCED THE END USER'S EXPERIENCE.

        15  Q.   WHO TOLD THAT YOU?

        16  A.   MARK BABER, AGAIN, WOLFGANG STRUSS.

        17  Q.   AND WHEN, IN THE COURSE OF THE EVENTS THAT WE ARE

        18  TALKING ABOUT, DID THEY TELL YOU THAT?

        19  A.   SOMETIME BETWEEN THE AUGUST, SEPTEMBER, OCTOBER,

        20  CAN'T PINPOINT THE EXACT DATE BECAUSE WHEN YOU ASK, I

        21  GUESS, WITHOUT GOING INTO DETAIL NOW, WE ACTUALLY SHOWED

        22  OUR FRONT OF SCREEN TO THE TEAM AT MICROSOFT AND ASKED

        23  THEM ABOUT THAT, AND WE TOOK THEM THROUGH AN ENTIRE

        24  DEMONSTRATION, AND THEY SAID THAT THEY LIKED IT, BUT THIS

        25  RESTRICTION WOULD BE IMPOSED ON ALL PC MANUFACTURERS.

                                                           64

         1  Q.   WE WILL COME BACK TO THAT IN JUST A SECOND, BUT

         2  BEFORE I DO THAT, THOUGH, DID ANY OF YOUR USABILITY

         3  STUDIES OR FOCUS GROUPS OR OTHER THINGS SHOW THAT

         4  CUSTOMERS WERE CONFUSED OR HAD PROBLEMS CAUSED FOR THEM BY

         5  THE WELCOME SCREEN AND OTHER THINGS YOU PUT ON YOUR IBM

         6  PC'S?

         7  A.   NO.

         8  Q.   GOING BACK TO WHAT MICROSOFT TOLD YOU ABOUT YOUR OWN

         9  MODIFICATIONS TO THE SCREENS, GIVEN THAT, DID ANYONE FROM

        10  MICROSOFT SAY TO YOU WHY THEY WERE IMPOSING THESE

        11  RESTRICTIONS AND WHY THEY WERE LIMITING YOUR ABILITY TO

        12  CONTINUE TO DO THE WELCOME CENTER AND THE OTHER THINGS WE

        13  HAVE BEEN TALKING ABOUT?

        14  A.   YES.

        15  Q.   WHAT DID THEY TELL YOU?

        16  A.   MARK SAID THAT MICROSOFT HAD SOME SPECIFIC ISSUES

        17  WITH I BELIEVE IT WAS PACKARD-BELL WHO OFFERED SOMETHING

        18  CALLED THE NAVIGATOR AT THAT TIME, THAT--

        19  Q.   I'M SORRY, JUST TO BE CLEAR, WAS THE NAVIGATOR BEING

        20  REFERRED TO THERE THE SAME THING OR SOMETHING DIFFERENT AS

        21  THE NETSCAPE NAVIGATOR BROWSER?

        22  A.   NO, THAT'S DIFFERENT.  THIS NAVIGATOR WAS A TERM THEY

        23  HAD BRANDED USING A PACKARD-BELL CONSUMER SYSTEM THAT

        24  ALLOWED USERS TO NAVIGATE OR TO WORK THROUGH A WINDOWS 95

        25  SYSTEM.  AND WHAT THAT SYSTEM DID WAS IT HAD A FRONT OF
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         1  SCREEN IN FRONT OF THE MICROSOFT START SCREEN THAT TOOK

         2  THE USER THROUGH A NUMBER OF CHOICES AND SCREENS.  AND

         3  WHAT MARK SAID WAS IT WAS PRIMARILY DIRECTED AT

         4  PACKARD-BELL AND OTHERS.  THEY REALLY DIDN'T HAVE ANY

         5  ISSUES WITH IBM'S FRONT OF SCREEN, BUT THEY WANTED TO

         6  IMPOSE THAT RESTRICTION ON ALL PC MANUFACTURERS.

         7  Q.   DID IBM ATTEMPT TO NEGOTIATE OR PERSUADE MICROSOFT

         8  NOT TO IMPOSE THE RESTRICTION AND MAKE YOU GET RID OF

         9  THESE THINGS THAT YOU HAD BEEN OFFERING YOUR CUSTOMERS?

        10  A.   WE ATTEMPTED ON SEVERAL OCCASIONS IN CONFERENCE

        11  CALLS, IN MEETINGS, AND EVEN FLYING OUT WITH AN APTIVA TO

        12  MICROSOFT TO DEMONSTRATE THE WELCOME CENTER AND USER

        13  EXPERIENCE.

        14  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE WHAT, IN ANY, CHANGES YOU WERE

        15  ABLE TO ACHIEVE IN THE SCREEN RESTRICTIONS AS MICROSOFT

        16  HAD FIRST TOLD YOU THEY WERE GOING TO IMPOSE THEM.

        17  A.   AT FIRST?

        18  Q.   YES.

        19  A.   NONE.  THEY SAID, "THANKS, BUT THE RESTRICTIONS

        20  STAND."

        21  Q.   DID THERE COME A TIME LATER WHEN THERE WAS ANY CHANGE

        22  GIVEN OR MADE TO THE RESTRICTION MICROSOFT TOLD YOU THEY

        23  WERE IMPOSING?

        24  A.   OVER TIME, WE WOULD ASK FOR CERTAIN ITEMS TO BE GIVEN

        25  AN EXCEPTION.  FOR EXAMPLE, WE WANTED THE PC'S THAT WE
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         1  WERE SHIPPING TO HAVE AN ANTI-VIRUS PROGRAM START UP RIGHT

         2  AWAY TO DETECT WHETHER THERE WAS A VIRUS IN THE SYSTEM.

         3  AT FIRST WE WERE TOLD NO, AND THEN WHAT WE DID WAS WE

         4  WOULD ASK FOR AN EXCEPTION.  AND IN THE CASE OF THE

         5  ANTI-VIRUS, I CAN RECALL AT THIS TIME THAT MICROSOFT SENT

         6  US A LETTER GIVING US THAT EXCEPTION OR ALLOWING US THAT

         7  EXCEPTION.

         8  Q.   ARE THERE ANY OTHER SPECIFIC EXCEPTIONS YOU RECALL

         9  ASKING FOR AND ACTUALLY RECEIVING?

        10  A.   THERE WERE AT LEAST A COUPLE OF OTHERS.  I CAN RECALL

        11  ASKING THE SAME THING FOR THE LOCAL AREA NETWORK ADAPTOR

        12  STARTUP, AND I BELIEVE THEY GRANTED THAT REQUEST, AGAIN,

        13  BY LETTER GIVING US AN EXCEPTION.

        14  Q.   DID MICROSOFT EVER GRANT YOU AN EXCEPTION OR PERMIT

        15  IBM TO CONTINUE TO OFFER THE WELCOME CENTER OR THE OTHER

        16  THINGS THAT YOU BELIEVE MADE YOUR END USER'S INITIAL

        17  EXPERIENCE EASIER?

        18  A.   IN THE FORM THAT IT WAS IN?

        19  Q.   CORRECT.

        20  A.   NO.

        21  Q.   DID THEY EVER GRANT AN EXCEPTION OR ALLOW YOU TO

        22  CONTINUE TO OFFER THOSE FEATURES TO USERS IN A WAY THAT

        23  YOU THOUGHT WAS AS EFFECTIVE OR AS BENEFICIAL TO YOUR

        24  USERS AS WHAT YOU HAD BEEN DOING BEFORE THESE

        25  RESTRICTIONS?
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         1  A.   NOT IN THE SAME FORM, NO.

         2  Q.   WHAT, IF ANYTHING, DID THEY ALLOW YOU TO DO

         3  DIFFERENTLY?  WHAT EXCEPTION DID THEY ALLOW YOU RELATING

         4  TO ITEMS LIKE THE WELCOME CENTER, IF ANY?

         5  A.   I'M NOT CERTAIN THAT I CAN REFER TO IT AS AN

         6  EXCEPTION.

         7           WE WERE ALLOWED, ONCE IT GOT TO THE WINDOWS

         8  STARTUP, TO PUT AN ICON ON THE STARTUP SCREEN OF THE SAME

         9  SIZE AND SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS THAT THE WELCOME CENTER

        10  COULD BE CONTAINED WITH THAT.

        11  Q.   AND JUST SO WE ARE CLEAR, WAS THAT AN EXCEPTION THAT

        12  WAS GRANTED, OR WAS THAT SOMETHING THAT WAS PERMITTED

        13  UNDER THE RESTRICTION AS THEY IMPOSED THEM?

        14  A.   I BELIEVE THAT'S SOMETHING THAT WAS PERMITTED UNDER

        15  THE IMPOSED RESTRICTION.

        16  Q.   NOW, AT THE TIME BEFORE--IMMEDIATELY BEFORE MICROSOFT

        17  IMPOSED THESE RESTRICTIONS, DID THE IBM PC COMPANY BELIEVE

        18  THAT IT WAS CAPABLE TECHNICALLY OF CREATING AND

        19  IMPLEMENTING THE KIND OF FEATURES THAT WERE DESCRIBED IN,

        20  FOR EXAMPLE, GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2191, THE VARIOUS

        21  DIFFERENTIATION FEATURES YOU HAD OFFERED?

        22  A.   IF I UNDERSTOOD YOU CORRECTLY, DID IBM BELIEVE THAT

        23  WE HAD THE TECHNICAL CAPABILITIES WITHIN THE PC COMPANY TO

        24  IMPLEMENT THESE THINGS?

        25  Q.   TO CREATE AND IMPLEMENT THESE KIND OF FEATURES.
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         1  A.   CERTAINLY WE BELIEVE THAT.  WE HAD ANYWHERE--I FORGET

         2  THE EXACT NUMBER OF PEOPLE--ANYWHERE FROM 60 TO 150

         3  SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT ENGINEERS THAT WORKED ON THE PRE-LOAD

         4  STAFFS ACROSS THE BRAND THAT HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR

         5  SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT, SOFTWARE VERIFICATION TESTING,

         6  SYSTEMS COMPATIBILITY TESTING, FINAL HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE

         7  TESTING.  YES.

         8  Q.   AND BASED ON YOUR EXPERIENCE, DID YOU EVER HAVE ANY

         9  BASIS FOR BELIEVING THAT IBM WASN'T ABLE TO IMPLEMENT

        10  THESE THINGS IN A WAY THAT MADE THE END USER'S EXPERIENCE

        11  A POSITIVE ONE?

        12  A.   REPEAT THE QUESTION, PLEASE.

        13  Q.   SURE.

        14           BASED ON YOUR EXPERIENCE, DID YOU EVER HAVE ANY

        15  REASON TO BELIEVE THAT IBM WASN'T CAPABLE OF

        16  DIFFERENTIATING ITS MACHINES IN THE WAY YOU DESCRIBED, IN

        17  A WAY THAT WAS POSITIVE FOR ITS CUSTOMERS?

        18  A.   NO.

        19  Q.   WHAT, IF ANY, EXPECTATION DID YOU HAVE AT THE TIME

        20  THAT IF IBM DID MAKE A MISTAKE OR DO SOMETHING WRONG IN

        21  ITS WELCOME CENTER IN A WAY THAT IT MADE THE

        22  CUSTOMER'S--THE END USER'S EXPERIENCE WORSE, WHAT

        23  EXPECTATION DID YOU HAVE ABOUT THE EFFECT, IF ANY, THAT

        24  THAT WOULD HAVE ON YOU IN THE MARKETPLACE?

        25  A.   I WOULD LIKE YOU TO REPEAT THE QUESTION AGAIN JUST TO
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         1  LET ME MAKE SURE I HAVE IT.

         2  Q.   I WILL TRY TO REPHRASE IT.  IT WAS A BIT LONG.

         3           WHAT, IF ANY, EXPECTATION DID YOU HAVE, THE PC

         4  COMPANY HAVE, AT THIS TIME ABOUT THE IMPACT TO IT IN THE

         5  MARKETPLACE IF IT DESIGNED A CONFUSING OR A POOR OR A

         6  BROKEN WELCOME CENTER OR OTHER FEATURE OF DIFFERENTIATION?

         7           THE COURT:  HE WANTS TO KNOW, I THINK, WHO YOU

         8  THOUGHT WOULD GET BLAMED FOR IT.

         9  BY MR. MALONE:

        10  Q.   AND WHAT WOULD HAPPEN.

        11  A.   WELL, OBVIOUSLY, CERTAINLY THAT IBM WOULD BE

        12  IMPACTED, THAT WE WOULD POTENTIALLY LOSE A CERTAIN AMOUNT

        13  OF BUSINESS AS A RESULT.  AND, OF COURSE, THAT WOULD MEAN

        14  NEGATIVE IMPACTS IN THE MARKET FOR US.

        15  Q.   AND WHY DID YOU BELIEVE THAT IBM WOULD LOSE BUSINESS

        16  IF YOU OFFERED, FOR EXAMPLE, A POOR OR CONFUSING WELCOME

        17  CENTER TO YOUR CUSTOMERS?

        18  A.   THE BRAND THAT THEY ASSOCIATED WITH THAT PURCHASE WAS

        19  SITTING IN FRONT OF THEM, AND THAT WAS THE IBM APTIVA

        20  BRAND.  THAT'S WHO THEY ASSOCIATED THAT PURCHASE WITH.

        21  Q.   AND WOULD YOU EXPECT THAT THEY WOULD THEN BE ABLE TO

        22  CHOOSE FROM OTHER OEM'S THAT WERE OFFERING THEM OTHER AND,

        23  PERHAPS, BETTER OPTIONS?

        24  A.   CERTAINLY THEY WOULD.

        25  Q.   DID THESE FRONT OF SCREEN RESTRICTIONS WE HAVE BEEN
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         1  TALKING ABOUT ULTIMATELY BECOME PART OF THE WINDOWS

         2  DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENT THAT YOU SIGNED?

         3  A.   YES, WE WERE NEVER ABLE TO CONVINCE MICROSOFT TO NOT

         4  IMPOSE THOSE AS A LICENSE RESTRICTION.  WE EVEN ASKED TO

         5  HAVE THOSE TERMS MAYBE KEPT IN THE OEM PRODUCT KIT, BUT

         6  NOT TO MAKE THEM A CONDITION OF A LICENSE.  THEY

         7  EVENTUALLY BECAME A CONDITION OF THE LICENSE.

         8  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, DIFFERENCE WOULD THERE BE IN HAVING

         9  THEM PART OF THE OPK VERSUS THEM NOT IN THE LICENSE

        10  ITSELF?

        11  A.   WELL, AS A TERM IN THE LICENSE AGREEMENT, IF WE

        12  DIDN'T MEET THE TERM, WE WOULD BE IN BREACH OF THE

        13  CONTRACT; VERSUS THE OPK, WHICH WAS NOT A LICENSE TO

        14  DISTRIBUTE THE PRODUCT, WE WOULD NOT BE IN BREACH OF THE

        15  LICENSE AGREEMENT.

        16  Q.   AT THE TIME THAT IBM SIGNED THE AGREEMENT IN WHICH

        17  THESE NEW SCREEN RESTRICTIONS WERE IMPOSED ON IT, WHAT, IF

        18  ANY, ACTUAL IMPACT DID YOU SEE ON IBM AND ITS CUSTOMERS

        19  HAPPENING AS A RESULT OF THIS?

        20  A.   OF THE FRONT OF SCREEN?

        21  Q.   YES, CORRECT.

        22  A.   LET ME START WITH THE WELCOME CENTER.  WE HAD

        23  INVESTED MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN DEVELOPING THE WELCOME

        24  CENTER, AND DEVELOPING IT TO BE PLACED IN THE FRONT OF THE

        25  WINDOWS 95 STARTUP.  WE HAD PERFORMED THE USABILITY
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         1  STUDIES.  WE ALSO PERFORMED THE FOCUS GROUPS TO VALIDATE

         2  THE USABILITY STUDIES AND TO COMPARE AGAINST COMPETITION.

         3  THAT COSTS US MILLIONS OF DOLLARS.  IN ORDER TO MEET THE

         4  NEW RESTRICTIONS, WE WOULD HAVE TO SCRAP OR REWORK THAT

         5  INVESTMENT AND PUT THE NEW WELCOME CENTER ON THE WINDOWS

         6  DESKTOP SCREEN WITH THE RESTRICTIONS THAT WERE BEING

         7  APPLIED AT THAT TIME.

         8           ON NEW SYSTEMS SHIPPING OUT, WE HAD ALREADY BEGUN

         9  A PATH WHERE WE WERE TRYING TO COMPLY WITH THE 1996 MDA,

        10  THAT WITH SOMETHING THAT WE WERE CALLING ACCESS APTIVA,

        11  WHICH WOULD GO ON THE NEW SYSTEMS SHIPPING.  THE EXISTING

        12  SYSTEMS HAD THE WELCOME CENTER, AND THE NEW ONES WOULD

        13  HAVE ACCESS APTIVA.  WE DID THE EXACT SAME THING.  WE HAD

        14  USABILITY STUDIES, FOCUS GROUPS.  WE WOULD HAVE TO LOSE

        15  THOSE INVESTMENTS, RESTART, REDEVELOP ACCESS APTIVA TO BE

        16  PLACED ON THE FRONT OF THE SCREEN.  SO, IT CERTAINLY WOULD

        17  HAVE IMPOSED COSTS.

        18           WE WOULD HAVE TO EDUCATE THE END USERS THAT WOULD

        19  BE RECEIVING THE SYSTEMS TO HELP THEM GET THROUGH THEIR

        20  SYSTEM AND HELP THEM LEARN HOW TO USE THEIR SYSTEM IN SOME

        21  OTHER WAY.

        22  Q.   BEFORE WE LEAVE THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT

        23  NEGOTIATIONS THAT WE HAVE BEEN TALKING ABOUT FOR A WHILE,

        24  I JUST WANT TO BE SURE THAT WE ARE CLEAR ON A COUPLE OF

        25  POINTS.  LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT
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         1  2189, WHICH I WILL ASK BE GIVEN TO YOU.

         2  A.   OKAY.

         3  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2189?

         4  A.   YES.  THIS IS THE LETTER WHICH I REFERRED TO EARLIER

         5  THIS AFTERNOON FROM WOLFGANG STRUSS TO ME, DATED JUNE

         6  28TH, 1996, REGARDING THE 3.11 LICENSE SYSTEMS FALLING

         7  BELOW EIGHT PERCENT.

         8           MR. MALONE:  I WOULD OFFER 2189 INTO EVIDENCE.

         9           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

        10           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2189 IS ADMITTED.

        11                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2189 WAS

        12                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

        13  BY MR. MALONE:

        14  Q.   AND MR. NORRIS, LET ME JUST ASK, ARE THE TERMS FOR

        15  THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT REFERRED TO IN HERE,

        16  PARTICULARLY THE INCENTIVES IF IBM'S WINDOWS 3.11

        17  SHIPMENTS FALL BELOW EIGHT PERCENT, ARE THESE THE TERMS

        18  THAT WERE ULTIMATELY--THE FINAL TERMS THAT WERE ULTIMATELY

        19  GIVEN BY MICROSOFT TO IBM?

        20  A.   LET ME HAVE A MOMENT TO MAKE SURE THESE ARE ACCURATE.

        21  Q.   PLEASE DO.

        22           (WITNESS REVIEWS DOCUMENT.)

        23  Q.   ARE THESE THE FINAL TERMS YOU UNDERSTOOD AS THEY WERE

        24  PRESENTED BY MICROSOFT TO IBM?

        25  A.   YES.
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         1  Q.   AND LET ME ASK THAT YOU BE SHOWN GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT

         2  2186.

         3           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

         4  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE 2186?

         5  A.   YES, I DO.

         6  Q.   CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR US WHAT THIS DOCUMENT IS.

         7  A.   THIS IS A DOCUMENT THAT I PREPARED ON MY PERSONAL

         8  COMPUTER.

         9  Q.   AND WHAT IS--WHAT ARE THE GENERAL CONTENTS OF 2186?

        10  A.   IT IS A SUMMARY OF THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE

        11  NEGOTIATIONS AND DISCUSSIONS THAT SUMMARIZES THOSE

        12  NEGOTIATIONS IN THREE AREAS:  IT'S A SUMMARY OF THE

        13  ROYALTIES, IT'S A SUMMARY OF THE OPERATIONS OR OPERATIONAL

        14  ISSUES WHICH WE HAD, AND A SUMMARY OF THE OVERALL

        15  RELATIONSHIP.

        16  Q.   AND DO YOU RECALL APPROXIMATELY WHEN YOU PREPARED

        17  THIS SUMMARY OF THE WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT IN

        18  NEGOTIATIONS?

        19  A.   I CAN TELL YOU IT WAS SOMETIME PRIOR TO AUGUST 15TH

        20  OF '96.  AND PROBABLY AFTER JUNE 28TH, WHEN WE RECEIVED

        21  THE EIGHT PERCENT OFFER.

        22           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I WOULD OFFER 2186 AT

        23  THIS TIME.

        24           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.

        25           THE COURT:  GOVERNMENT'S 2186 IS ADMITTED.
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         1                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2186 WAS

         2                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         3  BY MR. MALONE:

         4  Q.   AND BASED ON YOUR REVIEW OF IT NOW AND YOUR

         5  RECOLLECTION OF IT, DOES THIS SUMMARY OF THE NEGOTIATIONS

         6  REFLECT, FIRST OF ALL, THE ACTUAL ROYALTIES THAT ENDED UP

         7  BEING AGREED TO BETWEEN MICROSOFT AND IBM AS PART OF THE

         8  WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT?

         9  A.   THIS APPEARS TO BE ACCURATE AS I LOOK AT THE DATA,

        10  YES.

        11  Q.   AND DO THE TWO BULLETS POINTS UNDER THE SUMMARY OF

        12  ROYALTIES SECTION ACCURATELY REFLECT, AS YOU LOOK AT IT

        13  TODAY, THE INCENTIVES FOR HAVING THE--THE INCENTIVES FOR

        14  REDUCING THE VOLUME OF SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11 THAT YOU

        15  DESCRIBED EARLIER?

        16  A.   YES, I SEE THE EIGHT PERCENT AND THE TWELVE PERCENT.

        17  Q.   TOWARD THE BOTTOM OF THE DOCUMENT YOU HAVE A HEADING

        18  "SUMMARY OF RELATIONSHIP."  DO YOU SEE THAT?

        19  A.   YES, I DO.

        20  Q.   AND YOUR FIRST BULLET POINT THERE IS, QUOTE, COST OF

        21  DOING BUSINESS WITH MICROSOFT, END QUOTE.

        22           CAN YOU DESCRIBE FOR THE COURT WHAT YOU MEANT BY

        23  THAT.

        24  A.   IN SUMMARIZING AND FINALIZING THE WINDOWS DESKTOP

        25  FAMILY AGREEMENT, THIS WAS A QUOTE THAT WAS STATED TO ME
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         1  BY MARK BABER.  WE WANTED TO KNOW WHY THIS WAS SO

         2  DIFFICULT TO PROCESS, TO GET TERMS THAT WERE LESS

         3  BURDENSOME AND PRICES THAT DIDN'T INCREASE AS MUCH.  AND

         4  HIS RESPONSE WAS IT WAS THE COST OF DOING BUSINESS WITH

         5  MICROSOFT.

         6  Q.   WAS THAT SOMETHING IN WORDS OR IN SUBSTANCE THAT

         7  MR. BABER HAD EXPRESSED TO YOU AT OTHER TIMES DURING THE

         8  COURSE OF YOUR DEALINGS WITH HIM AS THE LEAD NEGOTIATOR

         9  WITH MICROSOFT FOR IBM?

        10  A.   YES.

        11  Q.   AND IN GENERAL, WHAT ELSE DID HE TELL YOU ON OTHER

        12  OCCASIONS CONSISTENT WITH OR SIMILAR TO THIS STATEMENT?

        13  A.   AS I SAID EARLIER, THIS IS THE ONLY GAME IN TOWN.

        14  WHERE ELSE ARE YOU GOING TO DO?

        15  Q.   TWO BULLETS POINT BELOW THAT ONE YOU HAVE THE ENTRY,

        16  "MICROSOFT WILL UNDERTAKE NO MARKETING INITIATIVES WITH

        17  IBM DUE TO LOTUS BUNDLES."

        18           DO YOU SEE THAT?

        19  A.   YES, I DO.

        20  Q.   AND WHAT DID YOU MEAN BY THAT STATEMENT?

        21  A.   UP TO NOW, WE HAD ASKED MICROSOFT TO PARTICIPATE IN

        22  JOINT MARKETING EVENTS WITH US, AND MARKETING INITIATIVES

        23  SUCH AS GIVING US A STATEMENT IN A PRESS RELEASE AS WE

        24  DISCUSSED EARLIER.  ANYTHING THAT INVOLVED CREATING PUBLIC

        25  AWARENESS OR PUBLIC INTEREST IN THE IBM MICROSOFT
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         1  RELATIONSHIP.  THEY TOLD US THAT THERE WOULD BE NO

         2  MARKETING INITIATIVES WITH IBM AS LONG AS WE WERE DOING

         3  THE LOTUS SMARTSUITE BUNDLES.

         4  Q.   LET ME ASK YOU TO LOOK AT ONE LAST DOCUMENT ON THIS

         5  SUBJECT BEFORE WE MOVE ON TO SOMETHING ELSE, AND THAT

         6  WOULD BE GOVERNMENT EXHIBIT 2194.

         7           (DOCUMENT HANDED TO THE WITNESS.)

         8  Q.   I WON'T ASK YOU TO LOOK AT THE ENTIRE THING BECAUSE

         9  IT'S PRETTY LENGTHY, BUT IF YOU COULD TAKE A QUICK LOOK

        10  AND LET US KNOW IF YOU RECOGNIZE EXHIBIT 2194.

        11  A.   ALL RIGHT.  LET ME TAKE A LOOK AT IT.

        12           (WITNESS REVIEWS DOCUMENT.)

        13  A.   OKAY.

        14  Q.   DO YOU RECOGNIZE THIS DOCUMENT, SIR?

        15  A.   YES, I DO.

        16  Q.   AND CAN YOU DESCRIBE, PLEASE, WHAT IT IS.

        17  A.   OKAY.  THIS IS A PRESENTATION THAT I PREPARED ALONG

        18  WITH THREE OF MY TEAM MEMBERS, WHICH I PRESENTED THE

        19  STATUS OF THE MICROSOFT RELATIONSHIP AND THE STATUS OF THE

        20  WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENTS TO SAM PARMEZANO

        21  APPROXIMATELY AROUND THE MAY 1996 TIME FRAME.

        22  Q.   AND WHO IS MR. PARMEZANO AT THIS TIME?

        23  A.   SAM WAS THE NEW SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT AND GROUP

        24  EXECUTIVE FOR THE PERSONAL SYSTEMS GROUP AT IBM.

        25  Q.   AND WHY WERE YOU DOING THIS PARTICULAR PRESENTATION
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         1  FOR HIM AT THIS TIME?

         2  A.   HE WAS NEW TO PSG, THE PERSONAL SYSTEMS GROUP, NEW TO

         3  THE PC COMPANY, AND I WANTED TO IMMEDIATELY UPDATE MY

         4  SENIOR EXECUTIVE ON WHAT WE WERE DOING WITH MICROSOFT.

         5  Q.   AND IF I UNDERSTOOD YOU CORRECTLY A MOMENT AGO, YOU

         6  WERE UPDATING HIM BOTH ON THE STATUS OF THE WINDOWS

         7  DESKTOP FAMILY NEGOTIATIONS AS WELL AS THE OVERALL

         8  MICROSOFT RELATIONSHIP?

         9  A.   BOTH.

        10  Q.   LOOK, IF YOU WOULD, PLEASE, AT CHART NUMBER SIX,

        11  WHICH IS ON PROBABLY THE SIXTH PAGE.  IT IS THE ONE THAT

        12  HAS THE NUMBER 90357 AT THE BOTTOM.  IT SAYS "WINDOWS

        13  DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE AGREEMENTS, DISCUSSIONS TO DATE" AT

        14  THE TOP.

        15  A.   I SEE IT.

        16           MR. MALONE:  I DON'T KNOW IF I OFFERED 2194.  IF

        17  NOT, I OFFER IT AT THIS TIME.

        18           MR. PEPPERMAN:  NO OBJECTION, YOUR HONOR.  I

        19  WOULD INQUIRE THROUGH THE COURT THE DATE ON THIS DOCUMENT

        20  TO CLARIFY WHETHER THAT DATE IS ACCURATE.  WITH THAT

        21  CLARIFICATION, NO OBJECTION.

        22           THE COURT:  I THINK HE SAID HE PREPARED IT IN MAY

        23  OF '96.

        24           THE WITNESS:  THAT'S CORRECT.  THE DATE 9/17/95

        25  IS INCORRECT ON THIS SET OF DOCUMENTS.  I DON'T KNOW HOW
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         1  IT COULD HAVE GOTTEN PULLED IN THAT WAY.  PERHAPS ONE OF

         2  THE CHARTS MAY HAVE HAD A DATE, ORIGINAL CREATE DATE OF

         3  SEPTEMBER OF '95.  AND I PULLED THE SHELL OF THAT

         4  FRAMEWORK TO CREATE THE CHARTS, BUT IT WAS MAY OF 1996.

         5           THE COURT:  OKAY.  GOVERNMENT'S 2194 IS ADMITTED.

         6                         (GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBIT NO. 2194 WAS

         7                          ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

         8  BY MR. MALONE:

         9  Q.   CHART NUMBER SIX, WINDOWS DESKTOP FAMILY LICENSE

        10  AGREEMENT, DISCUSSIONS TO DATE, YOUR FIRST BULLET POINT

        11  THERE IS WIN 3.11 WFW, WHICH REFERS TO WHAT, SIR?

        12  A.   WINDOWS FOR WORK GROUPS.

        13  Q.   AND WHEN NT 3.11 LICENSE EXPIRES 9 OF '97, THAT'S

        14  WHAT YOU EARLIER DESCRIBED IN YOUR TESTIMONY; CORRECT?

        15  A.   YES, THAT'S CORRECT.

        16  Q.   YOU THEN SAY, IBM, QUOTE, LET THE MARKETPLACE DICTATE

        17  PRODUCTS EXTINCTION AND GRANDFATHER EXISTING TERMS EXCEPT

        18  ROYALTIES.

        19           WHAT DID YOU MEAN WHEN YOU SAID, "LET THE

        20  MARKETPLACE DICTATE PRODUCTS EXTINCTION"?

        21  A.   RECALL THAT UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WINDOWS DESKTOP

        22  FAMILY LICENSING AGREEMENT THAT MICROSOFT'S OBJECTIVE WAS

        23  TO LIMIT THE SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.1 INTO THE

        24  MARKETPLACE.  THEREFORE, THAT'S WHY THEY WANTED TO

        25  INCREASE THE PRICE OF IBM'S WINDOWS 3.11.  WE CONSTANTLY

                                                           79

         1  TOLD MICROSOFT THAT WE HAD CUSTOMERS THAT WE ARE NOT READY

         2  TO MOVE TO WINDOWS 95 OR WINDOWS NT 3.11.  AND THE BULLET

         3  THERE WAS TO LET SAM KNOW--TO LET MICROSOFT KNOW THAT WE

         4  SHOULD LET THE MARKETPLACE DICTATE WHEN THE PRODUCTS

         5  EXPIRE.  LET THE MARKETPLACE DICTATE WHEN THEY WANT TO

         6  MOVE TO NEW PRODUCTS.  LET'S NOT FORCE THIS ON THE MARKET.

         7  Q.   AND WHAT, IF ANY, EXPECTATION DID YOU HAVE ABOUT

         8  WHETHER THE NEW SIGNIFICANTLY HIGHER WINDOWS 3.11 ROYALTY

         9  RATE IN YOUR DESKTOP FAMILY AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER

        10  FINANCIAL INCENTIVES MICROSOFT OFFERED TO LIMIT THE

        11  SHIPMENTS OF 3.11 WOULD, IN FACT, MOVE PEOPLE OFF--MOVE

        12  PEOPLE AWAY FROM 3.11 TO WINDOWS 95 QUICKER THAN THE

        13  MARKETPLACE WOULD HAVE?

        14  A.   I'M SORRY, I MISSED THE QUESTION.

        15  Q.   SURE.

        16           WHAT, IF ANY, EXPECTATION DID YOU HAVE ABOUT

        17  WHETHER THE HIGHER PRICE FOR 3.11 IN THE DESKTOP FAMILY

        18  AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER FINANCIAL INCENTIVES TO LIMIT THE

        19  SHIPMENTS OF 3.11, WHAT, IF ANY, IMPACT THOSE WOULD HAVE

        20  ON HOW QUICKLY PEOPLE MOVED FROM 3.11 TO WINDOWS 95?

        21  A.   IMPACT ON IBM OR ON CUSTOMERS?

        22  Q.   WHAT, IF ANY, IMPACT WOULD IT HAVE ON WHETHER PEOPLE

        23  WOULD MOVE TO WINDOWS 95 FASTER THAN IF THE MARKETPLACE

        24  WERE DECIDING?

        25  A.   WE DIDN'T THINK IT WOULD HAVE MUCH.  WE THOUGHT THAT
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         1  CUSTOMERS WOULD MOVE TO WINDOWS 95 OR WINDOWS NT WHEN THEY

         2  WANTED TO.  WE WERE ATTEMPTING TO MAKE THE POINT TO

         3  MICROSOFT WHO WANTED TO IMPOSE THOSE TERMS THAT THEY

         4  SHOULDN'T IMPOSE THE TERMS BECAUSE WHILE WE WILL SHIP THE

         5  PRODUCTS THAT CUSTOMERS WANT, THEY SHOULD LET THE MARKET

         6  DICTATE WHEN THESE PRODUCTS EXPIRE VERSUS TRYING TO GIVE

         7  IBM INCENTIVES OR FORCE US TO PRICE OUR COST INCREASES TO

         8  MAKE THE SHIPMENTS OF THAT PRODUCT SMALLER.

         9  Q.   AND JUST SO I'M CLEAR, DID YOU EXPECT THAT THE PRICE

        10  INCREASE AND THE SHIPMENT PERCENTAGES WOULD MAKE A

        11  DIFFERENCE IN HOW MUCH 3.11 IBM SHIPPED?

        12  A.   NOT NECESSARILY.

        13  Q.   YOU SAY "NOT NECESSARILY."  WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

        14  A.   I MEAN, IT DEPENDS.  I'M NOT SURE I'M UNDERSTANDING

        15  YOUR QUESTION.

        16  Q.   SURE.  LET ME TRY IT A SLIGHTLY DIFFERENT WAY.

        17           WHAT PURPOSE DID MICROSOFT TELL YOU THEY HAD FOR

        18  RAISING THE PRICE OF THE WINDOWS 3.11 ROYALTY AND FOR

        19  OFFERING THESE OTHER INCENTIVES FOR IBM TO LIMIT ITS 3.11

        20  LIMIT PERCENTAGES OR VOLUMES?

        21  A.   NO, THEY SAID THEY WANTED TO LIMIT THE NUMBER OF

        22  SHIPMENTS OF WINDOWS 3.11.

        23  Q.   AND DID YOU EXPECT THAT THE PRICE INCREASE AND THE

        24  FINANCIAL INCENTIVES WOULD, IN FACT, ACCOMPLISH WHAT

        25  MICROSOFT WANTED TO ACCOMPLISH?
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         1  A.   DID I EXPECT OR DID MICROSOFT EXPECT THAT?

         2  Q.   DID YOU EXPECT THAT IF YOU AGREED TO THIS HIGHER

         3  ROYALTY AND IF THEY GAVE YOU THE FINANCIAL INCENTIVE TO

         4  LIMIT THE SHIPMENTS THAT THAT WOULD HAVE THE EFFECT

         5  OVERALL OF LEADING TO FEWER WINDOWS 3.11 SHIPMENTS BY IBM

         6  THAN IF YOU HAD YOUR OLD ROYALTY AND NO FINANCIAL

         7  INCENTIVE TO LIMIT THE SHIPMENTS?

         8  A.   CERTAINLY IT'S POSSIBLE.

         9  Q.   DID YOU HAVE AN EXPECTATION AT THIS TIME, ONE WAY OR

        10  THE OTHER?

        11  A.   OUR EXPECTATION, IF YOU LOOK AT SOME OF THE OTHER

        12  ANALYSIS THAT WE DID, WAS THAT THE VOLUME OUTLOOK WAS SUCH

        13  THAT WE DID NOT EXPECT TO MAKE THAT 12 PERCENT IN THE

        14  FOURTH QUARTER OF 1996.  WE EXPECT SHIPMENTS TO BE HIGHER.

        15  THEREFORE, WITH HIGHER COSTS FOR 3.11, OUR COSTS WOULD

        16  INCREASE.

        17           WE ALSO DID NOT EXPECT TO RECEIVE TWO AND A HALF

        18  MILLION.

        19  Q.   DID YOU ULTIMATELY RECEIVE THE $5 MILLION FOR YOUR

        20  WINDOWS 3.11 SHIPMENTS FALLING BELOW EIGHT PERCENT?

        21  A.   YES, WE DID.  WE ULTIMATELY DID DO THAT.

        22  Q.   LET ME ASK YOU TO TURN TO ONE OTHER PLACE IN THIS

        23  EXHIBIT, CHART 18.  IT SAYS "IBM LEVERAGE AND LIABILITIES"

        24  AT THE TOP.  DO YOU SEE THAT?

        25  A.   YES, I DO.
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         1  Q.   AND AT THE BOTTOM THERE IS AN ENTRY THAT SAYS,

         2  "MOTIVATORS TO SIGN FAMILY AGREEMENT."

         3  A.   UM-HMM.

         4  Q.   UNDER THAT YOU LIST WINDOWS 95 LICENSE AGREEMENT

         5  EXPIRES SEPTEMBER '96, MDA EXPIRES SEPTEMBER OF '96, NO

         6  LICENSE FOR WINDOWS NT 4.0, MICROSOFT WILL BECOME

         7  UNRESPONSIVE IF JUNE 1ST CONTRACT DATE NOT MET.

         8           ARE THE FIRST THREE OF THOSE THINGS YOU DESCRIBED

         9  EARLIER AS REASONS THAT IBM WOULD CONSIDER GIVING UP ITS

        10  EXISTING CONTRACT AND MOVING TO THE FAMILY AGREEMENT?

        11  A.   I DIDN'T QUITE TERM IT THAT WAY.  THESE WERE THE

        12  THINGS WE FELT WE HAD NO CHOICE ABOUT IT.  THE WINDOWS 95

        13  LICENSE AGREEMENT WAS EXPIRING IN SEPTEMBER OF '96, AND

        14  THE MDA EXPIRED IN SEPTEMBER OF '96.  THOSE WERE FACTS.

        15           IT WAS ALSO A FACT THAT IF WE DID NOT SIGN THE

        16  FAMILY AGREEMENT, THERE WOULD BE NO LICENSE FOR WINDOWS NT

        17  4.0.

        18  Q.   ABOVE THERE YOU HAVE A BULLET POINT THAT SAYS "IBM

        19  LIABILITIES," AND YOU NEXT TO THAT SAY "OS/2 AND PC-DOS

        20  VERSUS WINDOWS AND MS-DOS, SMARTSUITE VERSUS MS OFFICE,

        21  NOTES VERSUS EXCHANGE, AND EAGLE VERSUS BACK OFFICE."

        22           FIRST OF ALL, WHAT DID YOU MEAN BY THE TWO GROUPS

        23  OR THE TWO CATEGORIES OF PRODUCTS THERE?

        24  A.   SURE.  THE FIRST PRODUCT LISTED--PRODUCTS LISTED ON

        25  EACH OF THE FOUR BULLETS ARE IBM PRODUCTS VERSUS THE

                                                           83

         1  ASSOCIATED OR EQUIVALENT MICROSOFT PRODUCT.  SO, IT SHOWED

         2  WHICH PRODUCT IBM OFFERED VERSUS WHICH PRODUCT MICROSOFT

         3  OFFERED, WHERE WE COMPETED AGAINST EACH OTHER.

         4  Q.   AND WHY DID YOU DESCRIBE HERE THAT IBM COMPETES WITH

         5  MICROSOFT THROUGH THESE VARIOUS PRODUCTS YOU LISTED AS ONE

         6  OF THE IBM LIABILITIES?

         7  A.   NUMBER ONE, MICROSOFT TOLD US.

         8           NUMBER TWO, THEY HAD DEMONSTRATED ON SEVERAL

         9  OCCASIONS THAT BECAUSE WE WERE COMPETING, WHICHEVER

        10  PRODUCT IT WAS, OS/2, SMARTSUITE, THAT WE WERE COMPETING

        11  WITH, THAT WE WOULD SUFFER IN TERMS OF PRICE, TERMS AND

        12  CONDITIONS, MARKETING SUPPORT AND PROGRAMS, AS WE

        13  DISCUSSED EARLIER.

        14           I WANTED TO TELL SAM THAT THEY WERE A LIABILITY

        15  TO THE IBM PC COMPANY BECAUSE MICROSOFT TREATED US THAT

        16  WAY.  THEY MADE IT KNOWN THROUGH THEIR COMMENTS TO ME

        17  DIRECTLY, AND THEY MADE IT KNOWN THROUGH THE ACTIONS THEY

        18  TOOK WITH US IN THE MARKETPLACE.

        19  Q.   THE FINAL ENTRY YOU HAVE THERE IS "IBM POLICY

        20  DECISIONS PREVENT FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP."  CAN YOU JUST

        21  EXPLAIN WHAT YOU MEAN BY THAT, OR WHAT YOU MEANT BY THAT.

        22  A.   SURE.  OUR POLICY DECISION WAS TO COMPETE.  AS A

        23  RESULT OF COMPETING, IT MEANT THAT WE COULD NOT HAVE A

        24  FRONTLINE PARTNERSHIP AND ENJOY THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

        25  THAT COMPAQ AND OUR OTHER TOP-TIER PC MANUFACTURERS
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         1  ENJOYED.

         2           MR. MALONE:  YOUR HONOR, I'M ABOUT TO MOVE TO ONE

         3  LAST LARGE SUBJECT THAT I ANTICIPATE WILL TAKE SOMEWHERE

         4  BETWEEN 45 MINUTES AND AN HOUR.

         5           THE COURT:  LET'S DEFER THAT UNTIL TOMORROW

         6  MORNING.

         7           MR. MALONE:  THAT WILL BE FINE, YOUR HONOR.

         8  THANK YOU.

         9           THE COURT:  ALL RIGHT.  10:00.

        10           (WHEREUPON, AT 4:30 P.M., THE HEARING WAS

        11  ADJOURNED UNTIL 10:00 A.M., THE FOLLOWING DAY.)
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         1                   CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

         2

         3           I, DAVID A. KASDAN, RMR, COURT REPORTER, DO

         4  HEREBY TESTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING PROCEEDINGS WERE

         5  STENOGRAPHICALLY RECORDED BY ME AND THEREAFTER REDUCED TO

         6  TYPEWRITTEN FORM BY COMPUTER-ASSISTED TRANSCRIPTION UNDER

         7  MY DIRECTION AND SUPERVISION; AND THAT THE FOREGOING

         8  TRANSCRIPT IS A TRUE RECORD AND ACCURATE RECORD OF THE

         9  PROCEEDINGS.

        10           I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I AM NEITHER COUNSEL FOR,

        11  RELATED TO, NOR EMPLOYED BY ANY OF THE PARTIES TO THIS

        12  ACTION IN THIS PROCEEDING, NOR FINANCIALLY OR OTHERWISE

        13  INTERESTED IN THE OUTCOME OF THIS LITIGATION.

        14

                                    ______________________

        15                          DAVID A. KASDAN
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